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Introduction

Glas Cymru

The single purpose company formed in
2000 to own, finance and manage Welsh
Water on behalf of today's customers
and future generations. As a company
limited by guarantee, Glas Cymru has no
shareholders and any financial surpluses
are retained or reinvested for the benefit
of Welsh Water's customers or distributed
as ‘customer dividends’

Under our ‘not-for-profit’ business
model, Welsh Water's assets and capitai
investment are financed by bonds, loans
and retained financial surpluses. Most
day to day activities are carried out by
specialist contract partners employed
by Welsh Water following a competitive
procurement process. The Glas Cymru
business model aims to reduce Weish
Water's asset financing costs, the water
industry's single biggest cost, by offering
long term investors a high quality credit,
and to improve service delivery by
employing the best enterprises for each
distinct activity in the business.

Highlights

Protecting public health

» Continued high level of water
quality compliance - 99.95% mean
zonal compliance

» Good progress on delivering our
enhanced drinking water quality
protection programme

Safeguarding the environment

» 100% compliance at wastewater
treatment works

» Category 1 and 2 pollution
incidents reduced to 3

Meeting customers’ expectations

» Continued high levels of customer
satisfaction, as measured by
independent tracking research

» Positive endorsement by customers

of our 2010-15 draft business plan
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Welsh Water

The sixth largest of the 10 regulated
water and sewerage companies in
England and Wales. We provide an
essential public service to more than

3 million people living inWales and some
adjoining parts of England, The water
industry everywhere is capital intensive
and Welsh Water employs a huge and
complex network of often very long

life assets - with a replacement cost

of £19 billion, around £15,000 per
household - to deliver water and
sewerage services to our customers.

Itis our responsibility to operate,
maintain and upgrade efficiently this
large network of assets so as to ensure

a safe and reliable supply of drinking
water for our customers and to then carry
away and deal with wastewater so that
hoth public health and the environment
are protected. Qur ambition is to be
recognised by our customers as the best
water company in the UK.

Affordability and value for money

» ‘Customer dividend’in 2008-09
of £21 per customer totalling
£27 million

» New tariffs introduced to provide
assistance for customers who
experience difficulty in paying
their water charges

Employer of choice

» High level of employee satisfaction

» 26% reduction in reportable
accidents over the last 2 years

Responding to climate change
» 3% reduction in energy use
» 22% increase in renewable energy

Financing the business

» Largest ever annual capital
investment programme - over
£355 million

» Financial reserves or‘customer
equity”exceeds £1 billion
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Despite the increasingly difficult economic environment, | am pleased to report a
year of continued good progress in operational and environmental performance and
in serving customers in our area, We have responded positively to the challenges of
the current economic recession and have put affordability at the heart of our plans.
Having built up a strong financial position over the last 7 years we have been able to
afford to press ahead with our largest ever capital investment programme.

Chairman’s statement

Itis clear that many of our household
customers are now having real difficuities
in paying their water bill. Our bills

were kept down by the increase in our
‘customer dividend; which deducted

£21 from last year's bill for water and
sewerage. Welsh Water is still the only
regulated water company to pay a
‘customer dividend’ and the total sum
returned to Welsh Water's customers

to date now stands at £150 million.

In addition, we have been able to help
low income household customers by
introducing a third assistance tariff,
Welsh Water Assist, which puts a cap of
£250 on the bill for some low income
families with high water use. We estimate
that around 9,000 custormers could
benefit from this tariff,

Affordability is also at the heart of our
plans for the next regulatory period,
making Welsh Water the only regulated
water and sewerage company to have
proposed that bills will be the same in
real terms in 2015 as today.

Just as important is the quality and
reliability of our service. Few things are
as vital as safe drinking water and it is
good to report that our compliance with
standards for drinking water quality in
2008 was up with the best it has ever
been at 99.95%. It was disappointing,
therefore, that we also had to issue

2 precautionary Boil Water Notices in
2008, causing considerable
inconvenience for more than 50,000
customers, at Penybont and Mynydd
Llandygai, when our routine sampling
picked up evidence of cryptosporidiumn.

Our priority is always to protect public
health and there was no illness reported
as a result of these two incidents.

To avoid such incidents in future

we have commenced ahead of the
next Price Review a £200 million
investment programme on drinking
water improvements throughout Wales.
This will add an additional stage of
treatment to 9 works, mostly in north
Wales, which previously relied on
single stage treatment of high quality
source waters, Pending completion of
this major programme we have since
last September installed ultra viclet
treatment to protect against the risk
posed by cryptosporidium.

Since the year end a further
precautionary Boil Water Notice had

1o be issued affecting 70,000 customers
following the detection of high levels

of coliform bacteria at our Alwen works,
serving north east Wales. In response we
decided to bring forward a £14 million
scheme from our AMPS programme to
refurbish this works which is now 20
years old.

Last year we delivered our highest ever
capital expenditure on improving and
maintaining our £19 billion network

of assets, compteting work on projects
costing £355 millicn. This year we will
invest a further £350 million - higher than
originally planned, in part, because of
the accelerated water treatment works
improvement programme.

Dealing with the extremely cold weather
in January was a major challenge for

the business. The freezing temperatures
catised operational problems right across
our region, the most serious of which

was the loss of supply in the area served
by Maerdy water treatment works in the
Rhondda. More generally, despite the

fact that the number of bursts more than
doubled and leakage rose by 509 in some
areas, the highly effective response by our
contract partners right across the region
meant we were able to get total leakage
back down by the year end and hit our
Ofwat target.

For the first time in more than 10 years
Welsh Water achieved 100% compliance
with discharge 'look-up’ consents at

our wastewater treatment works, We
also achieved a further reduction in the
number of serious pollution incidents,
bringing the number down to just 3, from
9 in the previous year and 17 in the year
before that, This makes Welsh Water one
of the best performers in the industry
on a measure where we had previously
lagged the rest of the sector.

We completed more than 150 schemes

to reduce the risk of sewer flooding for
256 properties and cut the ‘at risk register’
from 365 to 265. However, the number of
actual sewer flooding incidents increased
from 319 to 392, in part as a result of

last year's very wet summer, Despite the
wet summer all but one of the 81 EU
designated beaches around the coast of
Wales passed the mandatory standard

for coastal water quality, and for the 2009
summer season Wales has secured 43 Blue
Flags, over a third of the total awarded to
the UK, and 42 Green Coast beach awards.

Independent research showed that
around 80% of our customers are satisfied
with the service they get from Welsh
Water. Further research carried out for
Ofwat and others for the regulatory price
review confirmed this high score and also
showed that 78% of our customers felt
that Welsh Water provides good value

for money.
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However, the number of written
customer complaints did increase last
year and we judge that around half of
these are avoidable. In order to tackle
some of the main causes of complaints
we are at the implementation stage of
a £90 million programme of ‘[T-enabled
change’to replace ageing systems and
processes and allow us to respond more
quickly and efficiently to customer jobs
and enguiries.

Our Final Business Plan was submitted
to Ofwat ahead of the current regulatory
review which, in December 2009, will
set prices and other targets for the

next 5 years. Our Plan will deliver good
progress towards the goals included in
“Our Sustainable Future”- a document
which sets out our vision for the water
industry in Wales over the next 25 years.
Our objective is to make sure, as far as
possible, that what we do in the coming
years delivers the optimal balance of
benefits and costs for all cur customers
and for the environment - including
reductions of 50% in our carbon
footprint.

The water industry faces big challenges.

In the immediate future we have to do all

we can to help our customers afford the
essential public service of safe drinking

water and sanitation. Financing efficiency

is the key to achieving this objective, by
making sure investors regard the water

industry in Wales as a ‘safe home'for long

term, low risk funding. Notwithstanding
the impact of the recession on our
business, we have been able to maintain
our net debt as a percentage of

regulatory asset value at 729, down from

the 93% when we acquired Welsh Water
in 2001, and our credit ratings have risen
to be amongst the best in the sector.

Looking further ahead, the water
industry is on the ‘front line'in dealing
with the expected consequences of
climate change, with the prospect of

and regulators are currently reviewing
the structure of the industry and
considering the possibility of breaking it
up into competing for-profit’ entities.

This is of particular concern for us since
Glas Cymru's ‘not-for-profit’ structure

is unique in the UK's water industry.

It has allowed all our financial surpluses
and efficiency savings to be reinvested
in the Company for the benefit of cur
customers and has made it possible for
us to introduce the ‘customer dividend;
helping to make this most essential
public service as affordable as possible.

We are proud of the ethos of trusteeship
and public service that the Glas Cymru
structure is designed to safeguard.
Nothing is more vital to public health
than the secure delivery of safe drinking
water and effective means of dealing
with wastewater. We judge that this
responsibility is best met in Wales and
the rest of our area by an integrated
company operating within a consistent
and transparent regulatory regime.

drier summers and more frequent severe
storms throughout the year. 5o that it can
meet these new challenges, government

On behalf of the Board | would like to
thank all the staff who work for us in this
important industry, both in Welsh Water
itself and with our contract partners, Their
continuing commitment and enthusiasm
is essential for our success in serving our
customers, and the way in which they
have responded to the many challenges
throughout the year is truly appreciated.

RVEE

—

Lord Burns, Chairman
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Our only purpose is to look after the water industry in our region on behalf of both
today’s customers and future generations and to deliver high quality and reliable
drinking water and sewerage services at an affordable price.

How we deliver services

The water industry in England and Wales
- and the important public service it is
responsible for - is highly regulated.

Ofwat is the economic regulator and is
responsible for setting an upper limit
on the price that each regulated water
and sewerage company can charge

its customers and for promoting the
interests of customers by incentivising
efficiency and high standards of

service and penalising inefficiency and
poaor service, The industry operatas on

a 5 year asset management cycle and
Welsh Water’s settlement for the current
5 year period that ends in March 2010
assumes total investment of £1.4 billion
financed in part by bills rising on average
by no more than 3.6% annually in real
terms. Welsh Water has mitigated the
allowed increase in bills by paying a
growing ‘customer dividend'

Each year Ofwat assesses companies’
overall delivery of service to customers
via their overall performance assessment
{OPA). The assessment serves 2 purposes,
Firstly, it enables comparisons of the
quality of the overall service companies
provide te customers — which is taken
into account at each price review. And
secondly it informs customers {and

other interested parties} about the
overall performance of their local water
company. The assessment refiects the
broad range of services provided to
customers including: water supply;
wastewater services; customer service;
and environmental impact.

The Drinking Water Inspectorate
monitors drinking water quality while the
Environment Agency regulates

Welsh Water's environmental
performance, specifically with regard to
the way in which it abstracts water from
rivers and reservoirs and then discharges
wastewater after it has been cleaned.
The Countryside Council for Wales and, in
England, Natural England oversees Welsh
Water's management of designated

sites for nature conservation and how
the Company meets its obligation to
conserve and improve biodiversity.

The Consumer Councit for Water is

the independent body established to
represent the interests of customers.

it investigates complaints, addresses
particular customer concerns and audits
Welsh Water’s performance on customer
service more generally as well as
influencing policy.

The Welsh Assembly Government has

a key role in determining water and
environmental quality standards as well
as setting the framework for other public
policy matters.

All aspects of Welsh Water's water and
wastewater operations are subject to
extensive performance monitoring
against standards and targets set by
regulators and government. Each year,
regulators publish reports that assess
and compare the performance of the
regulated water companies across a
wide range of measures, including water
quality, environmental quality, customer
service, affordability and cost efficiency.
Each has powers that can sanction Welsh
Water in the event that performance falls
short of required standards.

Welsh Water meets many of its
obligations as a regulated water and
sewerage undertaker through contract
partners, Under these outsourced
contracts Welsh Water retains ultimate
control of all activities carried out by
contract partners appointed following
competitive procurement,

The contracts operate on a transparent
basis so that Welsh Water retains access
to all staff, information and knowledge
required to meet legal and regulatory
obligations. Welsh Water determines
asset strategy and retains responsibility
for decisions on key assets,

In all, some 85% of Welsh Water's
operating and investment expenditure
is covered by these contracts which are
specified to incentivise contract partners
to deliver the best possible combination
of quality of service and cost efficiency.
Each contract specifies performance
measures that reflect the quality and
service standards by which Welsh Water’s
performance is judged and the contracts
reward sector leading performance and
penalise under performance,

@ Each year we report on Welsh Water's

performance against a range of
performance measures covering water
quality, environment, customer service,
health and safety and financial aspects.
From this wide range of measures the
Board has identified 8 key performance
indicators {KPls) to measure the overall
success of the business and the progress
of its key strategies. These include
strategies to deliver long term financing
efficiency and improve custorner service
while always ensuring that everyone who
works for the water industry in our region
is able to return home safely at the end of
each day.

Further information regarding the
definition, purpose and target for the 8 KPIs
can be found on page 26 of this report.
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Key performance measures

Previous Actual At or better
Monitoring plan  performance performance than previcus
Year to 31 March 2009 target ¥ 2007-08 2008-09 year
Water quality _ B )
Overall water quallty comphance at the tap'“"CJ v T 99.9% O 999% 0 v
@ Bactenologtcal compliance ‘at the tap'{see page 6) nfa 99 6% 99 8% v
_ron compliance ‘at thetap’™® e 99/1% 99.5% 99.4% _ x
Operanonal Pe[formance Index Q B ‘ _ o -—m m_nm/a_ ) 997 5_%— T Lm _9956- B f o
_Operational Performance In Index (TIM) a0 7 . _ na_ o 998%m  99.8% v
Environment _ ] L ‘ o ) o
Leakage (m*/km/day} T L 2 72 v
Number of ‘category 1 and 2’p0llut|on mCIdents @ V T ne s 3 v
Number of ‘category 3'pollution incidents * ] ) ) nfa B 75.6-0_ ) 230 i v
‘Wastewater treatment works assessedas S T
complying with ‘look up’table @ L _n/a o 99.9% 100% v i
_Sewage sludge recycled satlsfactonly @ ) 100% 100% 100% v
‘Mandatory’ coastal bathing water compllance N . T o o
at EU designated bathing beaches ! 100% 99% 99% v
‘Guideline’ coastal bathlng water compllance ) T T o o T
atEU designated bathing beaches™ e 'stable’ . 8% 7% o x -
Customer service _ o
@E;o_rner%;ans?act:on (see page 12) h n/a T B—ﬁb_m_n_ _S_OQ%HW x_ o
P‘roger_tles_ at rlsk‘ovf'recennn“g io& prggg.;;e_m o 242 o 220 ~ 197 v
Unplanned water supply interruptions o . 1,080 B 3,848 894 _ /
Properties ‘at nsk'of sewer flooding I o __:%99_ ___ i“ 365 . _2_6_§_ B T
Properties ﬂooded due to hydraullc overload ' L . m® W X
Properties flooded due to other c; causes - e 7120' Y7 186 B . x
Billing enquiries answered within 5 days T_ '_:_“ ) __ﬁ____ 100% ;__;___LQ_O% 100% R
Written _cpmp_lalnt§ ansvyerg_d u_v_l_tlﬂrll)_da&_;i o _ 999% 99.2% 993% v
Number of written compiaints received o o ~ —n_/a 10586 12,486 e
Customer meters read within year o o 99.9% 99.9% 99.9% v
'Telephon_e calls abandoned i o _I_‘_— - -7 . T 3;‘;6 2‘5?6 i V_‘__ f‘???f- _ B x
Telephone calls receiving engaged tone e 04% 004% ¥
Callk handlmg satasfacuon (score out of 5) R '/ 461 465 A
People
@jEPSTt?EE"{Ci‘_’?_“E (see page 14} n/a 35 34 v
Finance _
®—égr;d credlt ratlng"' (see pa—g—e_ 1~B.)_ n/a Class B bonds AJA3/A v
@ Customer dividend (see page 18) n/a £21 £22 v
® Gearing (see page 20) n/a 72% 72% v
@ Interest cover (see page 21) n/a 33 34 v
Overall performance o _
(D— b_f-v;at s OP; sgore (see ® page - 4) T - n/a - 394 406 estlmated v

{1} This measure Is based on ‘Mean Zonal Compliance:
{2} Incorporates performance against turbidity, iron and manganese.

{3} The Monitoring Plan sets aut the targets agreed with regulators at the Regulatory Price Review in 2004 and covers the five year period to 31 March 2010.

(4} Standard & Poor’s, Moody's and Fitch respectively.
{C) Calendar year 2008 all other figures are for the year ended 311 March 20089,
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Our biggest responsibility is to protect public health by providing a safe and reliable
drinking water supply to our customers at all times. This means that our tap water
must be free from harmful chemicals and bacteria and have an acceptable taste.

Drinking water supply

We employ 67 water treatment works to
supply on average 850 million litres of
water a day to 1.2 million households and
over 100,000 business customers through
a network of 557 service reservoirs and
over 27,000km of water mains.

Drinking water quality

Last year, in line with water industry
regulations, we carried out almost
300,000 tests of water quality at all stages
in our water supply system, from the
treatment works to the customer tap.

We test the quality of tap water against
parameters for 39 health based standards
that are derived from European Directives
and national legislation and our
compliance is regulated by the Drinking
Water Inspectorate. This programme of
random testing pravides a good picture
of the quality of the tap water we supply
to our customers,

In 2008, the high quality of drinking
water supplied to our customers was
maintained overall, Bacteriological
compliance at the tap improved to
99.77% (2007: 99.60%) while Mean Zonal
Compliance was better with 99.95% of
tests meeting the required standards
{2007: 99.93%). On the Operational
Performance Index our performance
improved to 99.89% (2007: 99.71%) while
performance on the Water Distribution
Index was 99.83% (2007: 99.84%).

This year we will complete a £420 million
10 year programme to renew ofr refurbish
over 4,000km of unlined iron water
mains. This programme has significantly
improved iron compliance at the tap and
will extend the life of our water mains
network,

Customer contacts are another measure
of customer confidence in their tap
water, Last year we reduced the number
of contacts from 5 to 4.5 per 1,000
customers, which is closer to the 2007
industry average of 2.6.

Counting against this generally improving
performance was the fact that we
experienced 22 water quality incidents;
up from the 16in 2007, 2 of the 2008
‘incidents’ concerned precautionary Boil
Water Notices affecting 50,000 customers
in north Wales.

Last September, our routine sampling
detected elevated levels of
cryptosporidium in the source reservoir
water for our Mynydd Llandygai water
treatment works in Gwynedd, and in
order to protect public health we issued
a precautionary Boil Water Notice to
soma 45,000 househo!d and business
customers. We were able to lift this Notice
after installing ultra viclet treatment at
Mynydd Llandygai and the £9 million
scheme to add a coagulation treatment
stage to this water treatment works is
now progressing.

We also issued precautionary Boil Water
Notice to 5,000 customers in Tywyn and
Aberdyfi supplied by our Penybont water
treatment works which lasted 4 days

and followed an 8 hour period where

the ultra violet treatment was unable to
operate because of very wet weather. The
£6 million scheme to upgrade Penybont
water treatment woarks, which was on

site at the time of this incident, was
completed in December.

In recent years we have witnessed a
gradual deterioration in the quality of
the raw water we abstract for public
water supply, possibly as a result of
climate change, and this has challenged
a number of our water treatment works,
particularly those with relatively simple
treatment like Mynydd Llandygai and
Penybont. This fact, combined with
are-assessment of the risk posed to
public health by even very low levels of :
cryptosporidium in drinking water, led
the Board to decide to bring forward
investment to add an additional or
enhanced stage of treatment to 9 of our
mostly smaller water treatment works,
most of which are in north Wales where
source water is generally of very high
quality. The overall programme will cost
£200 million and pending its completion
by 2015 we have installed uitra violet
treatment to protect against the risk
posed by cryptosporidium.

In April this year we issued another
precautionary Boil Water Notice to
70,000 customers in north east Wales
supplied by our Alwen water treatment
works. This followed evidence of
bacteriological contamination in routine
testing carried out at the treatment
works. All testing downstream of the
works was clear and the precautionary
Notice was lifted after 6 days. Alwen water
treatment works is 20 years old and a
major £14 million refurbishment scheme
is being accelerated and work will start
on site during the course of this year. In
the meantime, the disinfection process
employed at Alwen has been bolstered,

Drinking Water Safety Plans

A priority in 2008 was the development
of a Drinking Water Safety Plan for each
of Welsh Water's 22 water supply

zones. This has involved a detailed re-
assessment of all potential risks to water
supply and public health at all stages in
the water supply chain - from catchment
source, through the treatment stage,
storage and distribution network to the
customers’ taps.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig .
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Public Health Partnership for Wales
This forum of water companies,
regulators, local authorities, health
authorities and public health experts
meets regularly to improve working
relationships and to achieve good
management of water quality events
5o that public health is protacted at
all times,

Reliability of supply

A key measure of customer service is the
number of instances where water supplies
are cut off without warning because of

a burst, third party damage or because
we have over run on planned work. Last
year 894 properties suffered unplanned
interruptions to supply lasting more

99.95%

overall water quality
compliance,

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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than 6 hours, compared with 3,848 in

the previous year when severe summer
flooding inundated our Whitbourne water
treatment works. 411 properties suffered
interruptions to supply lasting more than
12 hours.

{n January, the freezing weather followed
by a rapid thaw had a significant impact
on our operations, with burst rates more
than doubling in some areas. We had
particular problems in the Rhondda
where the freezing weather stripped
manganese deposits from the raw
water mains serving our Maerdy water
treatment works, blocking the filters
and causing intermittent supply
interrypticns to 7,000 customers.

£200 million

to be investment in water
treatment works.

A scheme to renew the raw water main
will be completed by the end of this year.

We also monitor water pressure at the
tap in each water distribution zone,
incidence of low pressure problems can
change as new properties are connected
to the water supply network or as a

result of network re-configuration,

Last year we dealt with possible low
pressure problems for over 170 properties
and at the end of the year there were

197 properties still at risk of having low
pressure, a performance that keeps Welsh
Water at or near the top of the industry
league table for this measure.

4,000km

of unlined iron mains
renewed in 10 years.

Water investment in the year Spend
im
T
Water treatment works AMPS 1
Water mains refurbishment 51
Meterinstallaton m ) 5
lekage T s
wwaodiomes 5
Maintenance ;__ ____ o 60
Giher b
Tatal 178
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Itis our responsibility to collect and treat our customers’ wastewater - together, in
many places, with highway and surface drainage that drains into the public sewer
network - in a way that protects public health and safeguards the environment.

Safeguarding the
environment today

We employ over 800 treatment works
which treat wastewater collected by
our 19,000km sewer network which has
over 1,900 pumping stations and 3,200
combined sewer overflows. Because

of our topography, we employ more
assets per customer than elsewhere
and our wastewater operations are
characterised by an extensive network
of relatively small assets. We collect for
treatment some 5% of the industry's total
wastewater flow yet operate 13% of its
treatment works.

As a result of investment of more than

£2 billion over the last 15 years or so,
Wales now has some of the highest
quality rivers and coastal waters in the
British Isles and while we are proud of the
part Welsh Water has played in securing
this outcome we are just as mindful of the
impartant job Welsh Water has to do to
maintain this high quality environment,

As with drinking water, the importance
of effective sewerage and wastewater
treatment for public health means that
Welsh Water’s wastewater activities are
tightly regulated. Much of what we do is
governed by statutory requirements and
our compliance with these is monitored
by the Environment Agency. We manage
the business against a range of regulatory
and other measures of performance
which together ensure the quality and
reliability of service received by our
customers and our compliance with
environment standards.

Wastewater treatment compliance

All of Welsh Water's wastewater treatment
works have discharge consents which are
regulated by the Environment Agency.
Just over 550 of our works have numeric
consents where the treated water
discharge is sampled over the course of
the year and tested against a number of
parameters, typically including biclogical
oxygen demand, suspended solids and
ammonia.

In 2008, for the first time in more than

10 years, all of Welsh Water’s customers
were served by wastewater treatment
works that complied with their look-up’
discharge consents. The number of works
‘at risk’ of failing also fell during 2008.

Reliability of sewer network
Ensuring that our sewerage network
operates so that the environment is
protected from pollution is one of our
biggest challenges. The average age of
Welsh Water’s sewers is 60 years and
around a third is more than 100 years
old. Last year we dealt with 541 sewer
collapses which remains one of the
highest rates of asset breakdown in
the industry.

Our sewer network was designed to carry
away surface water as well as wastewater
from households and businesses which
means that at times, and especially

after heavy rainfall, the sewer network
cannot cope and overloaded sewers can
cause flooding or pollution incidents.

We measure the risk of repeat flooding
from hydraulically overloaded sewers
and we also report actual sewer flooding

incidents and whether these have been
caused by hydraulic overload or as a
result of another cause, such as blockages
or sewer collapse.

Last year we invested over £20 million on
more than 150 schemes across our region
to reduce the risk of repeat flooding from
overloaded sewers for 131 properties,
and as a result the number of properties
still at risk of repeat flooding following
very heavy rainfall was reduced from

365 to 265 at the year end. Flooding
from sewers is the most serious service
shortfall and is especially hazardous to
public health, and continuing to reduce
both the number of incidents and the
number of properties at risk of repeat
floading from sewers is a high priority for
Welsh Water.

We reduced the number of serious
pollution incidents caused by breakdown
or other problems on our sewer network
to just 3 in 2008, down from 9 in 2007
and 17 in 2006. In addition, we reduced
the number of less serious pollution
incidents by 9%, Some 32% of all
pollution incidents were self reported’by
Welsh Water, up from 6% in 2007.

In part, this improvement in performance
is due to the installation of 620 Hawkeye
telemetry units on the sewerage network.
Last year these units alarmed on average
over 40 times a month which allowed staff
to attend before there was a spillage and
this pre-emptive action prevented more
than 100 pollution incidents in 2008,

Coastal and river water quality

Welsh Water has one of the longest
coastlines of any water and sewerage
company in the sector. Having high
quality coastal water quality is especially
important for the Welsh tourism industry
which employs 8% of the Welsh workforce
and contributes £3 billion a year to Welsh
econamy.
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Despite last year’s very wet summer 80
of the 81 EU designated popular beaches
passed the mandatory bathing water
standard and 62 passed the much higher
guideline standard. These results helped
secure 43 Blue Flag beach and marina
awards for the 2009 season, which once
again means that Wales secured more
than one third of the total number of
Blue Flags awarded to the UK. In addition,
Wales secured 42 Green Coast awards for
rural beaches.

The quality of rivers in Wales continues to
be amongst the best in the UK. The latest
survey of river water guality published by
the Environment Agency confirmed that
over 95% of rivers in Wales were good

£2 billion

invested over last 15 years.
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or excellent on the assessment for
chemicat quality and over 87% were
good cr excellent on the assessment
for biological quality.

Water abstraction and leakage

In Wales we abstract for public water
supply just 3% of effective rainfall
compared with over 509 in parts of
the south east of England. Moreover, in
the last 10 years we have reduced our
abstractions by a quarter as a result of
halving leakage from our water supply
network and falling demand for water
from heavy industry.

43

blue flag beaches
and marinas.

Because of the big increase in bursts
following the protonged freezing
weather in December and January,
leakage increased sharply. During the
first 2 weeks of January we completed
over 1,000 repairs on our water supply
network, compared to around 1,500
repairs in December. But by reallocating
resources and by 7 day working, we were
able to tackle the backlog of leaks on
our water supply system and achieve the
Ofwat target for leakage of 195MI/d.

100%

compliant wastewater
treatment works.

Wastewater investment in theyear  Spend

fm
e et w14
Combined sewer overfiows 48
Frmeseweugepoison 3
Sewer flooding prevention 1
Seweagemainienance 16
Wastewaler asset maincenance 27
SIupgz_dgrﬂnpfnept _7 ‘ ) ‘_ ~ _‘9-
New develapmens . ) i 6
Other 18
Total 164
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As the provider of essential water and sewerage services our activities can have a
significant impact on the environment. We aim to safeguard the environment by
operating in a sustainable way and where an impact is unavoidable, in a way that

mitigates any adverse environmental impact.

Safeguarding the
environment for tomorrow

Managing water resources

We are committed to ensuring that

in the future there will be sufficient
water to meet the requirements of our
customers, Qur 25 year water resource
strategy, a draft of which was published
for consultation in January 2009, shows
our plans for managing water resources
across our supply area and maintaining
the balance between supply and
demand. In preparing this plan we have
had to consider ali the factors which
could potentially impact upon either
the availability of our supplies, or the
demands made on our resources. This
includes forecast changes in population
and the amount of water we all use,

the effects of climate change and
changing legislation that may lead to
us abstracting less water from the rivers
in Wales. Although we have a relatively
strong water resource position, through
this process we have identified deficit
zones where demand is exceeding (or
forecast to exceed) supply and identified
solutions to either increase supplies or
to manage demand. This is complicated
by the fact that Welsh Water has nearly
half the industry’s discreet water resource
zones, which limits our ability to transfer
water from one area to another and can
create local supply problems during
droughts and other extreme weather
conditions.

We place a strong emphasis on
managing water abstraction and leakage
and on water efficiency, and we are
working to both mitigate the expected
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impact of climate change on our industry
as well as reduce Welsh Water's carbon
footprint,

Water efficiency

Promoting water efficlency is essential
to encourage our customers to use
water wisely and avoid waste in the
interests of both our environment and
customers generally. Small measures to
save water can, when aggregated, help
manage the effects of climate change
and help to contain any increase in water
consumption.

We promote water efficiency through our
'‘Be Waterwise’ campaign, where our core
message is:‘'use as much drinking water as
you need, but please don't waste it’ Under
this campaign we provide customers with
free water saving devices (cistern hippo-
bags) and information via our website

and publications on how to save water in
the home and the garden, Last year, we
also took to the road with a programme
of road shows around our region, and
promoted a’Green plumbers of Wales’
scheme, under which 60 plumbers passed
a pilot module of plumbing training,
which focuses on best practice in the
installation and maintenance of water
efficiency plumbing equipment.

Climate change and carbon emissions
Treating and transporting water and
wastewater across a large region of
variable terrain makes Welsh Water one
of the top energy users and, therefore,
carbon emitters in Wales. Each year there

is an upward pressure on energy use
arising from investment in new assets and
treatment processes to meet higher water
quality and environmental standards.

On top of this, in the past 3 years we

have seen a much greater variability in
weather conditions, and more extreme
weather events, which may, or may not,
be attributable to climate change, but

are having a significant impact on the
operation of Welsh Water's business.

Given this challenging operaticnal
environment, it is pleasing to report that
in 2008-09 Welsh Water's carbon emissions
fell slightly to some 252,000 tonnes of

€Oz equivalent (tCO:2) as measured under
the DEFRA Guidelines 2007, This makes
progress to meeting our carbon reduction
target of 25% by 2015, as set out in “Welsh
Water: Our Sustainable Future’, which we
published in 2007,

Energy management

809% of Welsh Water's carbon emissions
relate to energy use so control of

energy costs has both financial and
environmental benefits. Last year energy
use fell by around 3%, which is a good
outcome in a year of difficult operating
circumstances, We achieved this by

close monitoring of the operational and
energy efficiency of plant, especially
pump efficiency as 70-80% of all energy
use relates to our pumping water and
wastewater, The replacernent of inefficient
pumps can deliver energy savings of up
to 209%. Following a review of the aeration
process at Cardiff wastewater treatment
works, which identified energy savings

of around 3.45Gwh, we are reviewing the
application of aeration optimisation ata
further 10 sites.

Last year Welsh Water generated 7.8Mwh
of renewable energy, mainly from
combined heat and power (CHP) schemes,
which capture and burn ‘waste’ methane
gas at 11 wastewater treatment works,
which is some 22% more thanin 2007-08.
This excludes, however, over 30,000Mwh
of hydro renewable energy generated
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by third parties at Welsh Water sites
under commercial leases that predate
Glas Cymru's ownership of Welsh Water.

The renewable energy we generate
will increase further by 2011 as we

are investing £70 million to install
advanced sludge digestion schames
at 3 wastewater treatrment works,
which will generate a further 7Mwh

of green energy. This would save over
30,000tCO: of emissions and make a
significant contribution to achieving our
carbon reduction targets. A scheme at
Eign in Herefordshire is being installed
currently, and planning is advanced
for similar schemes at our Cardiff and
Afan works, Our sludge strategy will

3%

reduction in energy use,
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also increase renewable capacity at our
Five Fords works near Wrexham and see
the decommissioning of less efficient
digestion units at other sites.

Recycling waste

Each year Welsh Water uses some 120,000
tonnes of aggregate and neads to dispose
of around 85,000 tonnes of construction
waste, With our contract partners, Welsh
Water has signed up to the government
sponsored WRAP Utility Industry
Agreement, which promotes good
practice to minimise the unnecessary use
of virgin aggregate resources and the
depaosit of construction waste to landfili,
Recycling of construction waste and

use of secondary aggregate has been

22%

increase in renewable
energy generation,

established practice at major construction
schemes for many years, but in 2008 we
established a recycling hub at Merlins
Bridge wastewater treatment works to
explore the apportunity for reprocessing
construction wastes from a number

of smaller investment schemes in the
Haverfordwest and Milford Haven area.
This small trial resulted in reduced lorry
journeys and avoided over 1,000 tonnes
of excavated waste being deposited to
landfill saving some BtCOz in emissions,
and the benefits of this regional approach
are now being applied more widely.

£70 million

to be invested in advanced
sludge digestion,

Further details on how we safeguard
the environment are published in
the “2009 Report of the Quality and
Environment Committee’, which is

available on request or vi our website.
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We have over 1.2 million household customers and over 100,000 business customers
and we want them all to feel confident that their water supply and sewerage services
are well looked after. Our aim is to get things right first time, every time, and give our
customers a prompt, courteous response every time they contact us.

Meeting customers’

expectations

Improving customer service

We are nearing completion of a 3 year
programme to update a number of key
IT systems and working practices so
that we can give our customers a much
better day to day service. This involves
an enormous commitment of resources
and the total cost of the programme is
£90 million. When it is fully rolled out all
our front line staff will have more real
time information available to them. This
will mean we can give customers more
accurate information and deal with their
queries and problems more quickly.

Customer contact

The majority of our customers prefer to
contact us by telephone and we continue
to answer calls with a ‘real person’
straightaway, only using automation in
emergencies. Last year we dealt with

1.2 million customer calls - stightly fewer
than in the previous year. Over 75% of the
calls we get are from customers wanting
to pay their bill or who have a query about
their bill or payment plan. We also received
nearly 132,000 written gueries about bills
and payment options and we responded
t0 95.99% of these within 5 working days.

Only 0.04% of all calls coming into our
contact centre got an engaged tone
because all staff were already busy

on another call. However, nearly 5%

of alt calls were abandoned, which is

up from the previous year when less
than 3% of calls were abandoned. This
dip in performance was mainty due to
unexpected changes to the pattern of
calls and calls taking longer to deal with.
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We have also experienced more
customers contacting us as a result of the
current difficult economic climate.

The quality of the response we give our
customers is of great importance and
calls to our contact centres are recorded
to ensure high standards are met and to
direct training as required.

All our customer publications are
bilingual and we have a dedicated
Welsh language telephone line for those
customers who prefer to speak to us in
Welsh. Last year there were some 35,000
calls to our Welsh language line.

Helping customers pay their bill

We have added a new assistance

tariff called Welsh Water Assist to help
household customers on low incomes
and particular needs which caps the bill
at £250. We estimate that around 9,000
customers can benefit from this tariff.
Around 12,500 customers have already
taken advantage of our other assistance
tariff - Water Direct which reduces the
bill by £25 when a customer opts to pay
their water bill by direct deduction from
benefits.

To date, 2,500 customers have benefited
from our Customer Assistance Fund,

run with the help of the Citizens Advice
Bureau to help customers who have
fallen into arrears with their bills. The
value of this help had reached £2 million
by the year end. All our assistance tariffs
are designed to be self funding.

Additional Services

Some of our customers may have
additional needs and we offer a range of
additiona! services. These include large
print or Braille bills, bottled water during
emergencies, a password scheme for
horne visits and a’knock and wait’ service
for those who need a little more time to
answer the door, At the end of the year
3,600 customers were registered for one
or more of these additional services,

Customer complaints

Last year we received 12,486 written
complaints, 17% higher than the previous
year. The number of written complaints
received by email was 55% higher and
email complaints now account for more
than a quarter of all written complaints,

The biggest increase came from
complaints about disputed consumption
from metered household customers.
99.9% of metered customers received at
least one bill last year based on an actual
reading. We were unable to get a meter
reading for just 419 customers out of
463,000 metered accounts.

We provided a substantive reply to
99.3% of these written complaints within
10 working days, which is marginally
better than the previous year. We judge
that around half of the complaints we get
are ‘avoldable’in that a customer has had
to complain because we have not done
what we promised to do or have not kept
them informed.

Most of the remaining complaints are
about disputed bills, charging policy or
our debt recovery activities. Just under 5%
of written complaints had to be escalated
to a Director because a customer was not
happy with our first reply.

Guaranteed Standards

We made 2,794 payments last year
under the industry’s Guaranteed
Standards scheme at a total cost of
same £200,000, most of which related
to missed appointments.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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Customer satisfaction

The industry regulator Ofwat carries out
independent follow up research into
customer satisfaction with call handling
across the sector, and last year we scored
93% which is one of the best results in
the industry and slightly better than

the previous year's score. We carry out
independent market research to track
customer views and satisfaction levels on
a range of issues and services, including
satisfaction with drinking water quality,
coastal environmental quality and how
our customers judge Welsh Water's value
for money when compared to other
utilities. The latest research shows that
satisfaction with drinking water quality
remains high at 86%.

2,500

customers benefit from
Customer Assistance Fund.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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As part of the regulatory review that will
set price limits for the next 5 years, Ofwat
carried out extensive customer research
in all regions of the water industry in
England and Wales. This research showed
that not only did 93% of customers in our
region support the plans and priorities
put forward by Welsh Water, but 70%
rated Welsh Water's current bill and
service level as representing good value
for money. Only one other company
achieved a higher score on either count.

Following the precautionary Boil Water
Notice we issued to some 45,000
customers in Gwynedd in September last
year we carried out independent research
to find out how well customers felt we

1.2 million

calls received.

had dealt with the prablem and how

the Boil Water Notice had affected thelr
view of Welsh Water and the service we
provide. The research showed that 79%
of customer were ‘satisfied’ with the way
we dealt with the boil notice, with 28%
being 'very satisfied’ Furthermore, 81% of
customers felt that their opinion of Welsh
Water had not changed as a result of the
boi! notice and 86% felt they were well
informed about what they needed to do
as a result of the boil notice.

93%

of customers endorse
draft business plan.
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Wa want everyone who works for the water industry in our region, either directly for
Welsh Water or for 1 of our service partners, to recognise the importance of the job we
do for the 3 million people whao rely on Welsh Water.

Employer of choice

Welsh Water

The people directly employed by

Welsh Water are principally responsible
for financial management, strategic asset
planning and investment, managing
reguiatory interfaces and ensuring
outsourced working arrangements
deliver an efficient and high quality
service to Welsh Water's customers,

Our annual staff survey shows that B6%
of Welsh Water staff understand the vital
purpose of Welsh Water and theirrolein
achieving this purpose, and 83% feel they
accomplish something worthwhile at
work. It also shows that 96% of staff
regard Welsh Water as a good employer.

Every member of staff has a personal
development plan which is reviewed
annually to assess individual development
and training needs, We kéep staff informed
about the company's perfermance and

the challenges we face, through monthly
team meetings and every quarter the
Managing Director meets alt staffin a
series of briefings, where they can choose
the topics to be discussed.

Last year we made a number of key
appeintments to strengthen our senior
team, especially in the fields of water
quality and asset strategy. In addition,
35 staff received management
development training and we
reintroduced our graduate recruitment
programme to bring in potential
leaders for the future, with skills in the
engineering and scientific disciplines.
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Senior managers mentor these individuals
and over a 2 year programmie they will be
exposed to all key parts of the business.
We have also strengthened our ties with

a number of universities to enable us

to attract strong candidates from the
disciplines we most need.

Asset Management Alliance

The Welsh Water Asset Management
Alliance {AMA) is a partnership between
Welsh Water and 13 operational and
capital contract partners which seeks

to set new standards in partnership
working. The overalt approach we take
is collaborative, with all parties working
together to deliver a common set of
husiness abjectives. The AMA supports
these objectives by ensuring a safe
working environment for our staff, by
focusing on continuous improvement
in customer service standards, by being
environmentally responsible and aware
of the impact we can have on people and
communities outside of the company.

Through our £90 million programme of
IT enabled change we will fundamentally
change the way we deliver services to
customers and our levels of service.

Last year some 1,200 staff received over
3,000 days of training on the new systems
as we deployed mobite and "tough book’
technology to provide access to asset and
customer data to staff in the field. 300
staff also received over 600 days training
on new [T and business support systems.

We alsa increased the number of
Welsh Water contract managers who
hold a NEBOSH accredited health and
safety qualification to 20, significantly
strengthening our capability in this
key area.

Each month we recognise excellence

in customer service or operationat
performance and efficiency through an
AMA award of employee and team of
the month with the winners going
forward to an annual awards ¢elebration
in Cardiff. In 2008-09 colleagues
nominated 65 individuals and 71 teams
for these awards.

Health and safety

The health, safety and welfare of our
staff is of the utmost importance, so it
is pleasing to report a further reduction
in the number of reportable accidents,
especially as last year we delivered our
largest ever annual capital investment
programme, and the average size of
the workforce last year was significantly
higher.

In 2008-09 there were 34 reportable
accidents which is 1 [ess than the
previous year, and some 26% lower
than 2 years ago. Qur service partners
delivered 150 risk based initiatives

and we launched a new occupational
health nurse service, part of promoting
awareness of good occupational health
practice across the AMA.

Over the past 5 years the level of near hit
reporting (i.e. an event that could have
caused injury to staff but which did not
on this occasion) has more than doubled.
This provides important learning for our
‘Journey to Zero' strategy and reflects
positively on the no blame safety culture
we have established across the AMA.
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All contract partners are independently
audited by Connaught Limited, at least
once every 2 years. This tests compliance
with the 2007 COM (Construction,

Design and Management) Regulations,
the delivery of improvement plans, and
the quality of accident reporting and
investigation and occupational health
service provision, 8 partners were audited
last year, but al) partners were involved

in a programme of 47 cross-partner

AMA audits. Connaught have confirmed
that our contract partners work to some
of the best safety standards they had
encountered both inside and outside of
our industry, with some in the top 10% of
companies they have audited.

26%

reduction in reportable
accidents over last 2 years.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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This contributed to our achieving
certification to the OHSAS 18001:2007
international standard for occupational
health and safety management with

an extended scope of service for

work relating to the ‘business and
administration of strategic management
of waters service provision, including
contract management' This certification
encompasses all activities undertaken in
the AMA and was achieved in February
2009, just 11 months after we secured
certification to the eartier 2001 standard
for Welsh Water's own health and safety
management arrangements.

£90 million

L.T. investment.

Further details of our health and safety
performance and approach are available
in our “2009 Health and Safety Report”
which is available on our website.

20 managers

hold NEBOSH accreditation.
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We have a clear and firm commitment to environmental responsibility and in being a
good neighbour and trusted partner in the communities we serve.

Responsible business

Minimising the impact of our activities
We cannot deliver essential water and
sewerage services, or complete an annual
investment programme of more than
£300 million a year, without having an
impact on the community. We have

to dig up roads to lay and refurbish
pipes, and we add to the volume of
heavy traffic on our roads as materials
are delivered to construction sites and
waste is removed, But we always look

to minimise the disruptive impact of

our activities. This has been recognised
with a number of our schemes securing

a national ‘considerate construction
scheme’ award, under which construction
sites are independently audited for

the effectiveness of its public safety

and community impact and liaison
arrangements,

Supporting education

In the last academic year around 18,000
children took part in education activities
under our Living and Learning With Water
programme, almost 14,000 of who visited
1 of our 4 environmental education
centres, This service is provided free of
charge and is designed and delivered by
qualified teachers, which ensures that
the service meets the changing needs of
the national curriculum and is relevant to
schools, Since our first centre opened in
1997 over 100,000 children have visited

1 of our education centres.

16

QOur education website (www.livingand
learningwithwater.com), provides
materials and information to support
teachers in the classroom and explains
the way we work with our ‘Education
Partners” the National Botanic Garden
of Wales, Techniquest in Cardiff, the
Herefard Waterworks Museum, The
National Wetlands Centre - Llanelli, the
Elan Valley Trust, and Keep Wales Tidy
{Eco-Schools).

Our education programme also plays

a central role in communicating key
messages on water conservation and
public safety into the wider community.
2 years ago we employed a peripatetic
teacher to make our service more
accessible to schools and community
groups unable to visit one of our centres.
In the last academic year this service
delivered 135 community based sessions,
reaching an additional 1,100 young
people and over 260 adult learners. It also
delivered key messages to nearly 2,000
participants in water theme weeks at our
education partner sites,

Working with Eco-Schools we sponsor

a water efficiency award for schools,

we have issued over 820 water efficiency
packs and around 1,630 schools receive
advice from us through the Eco-Schools
handbook.

Controlled trials at 18 schools in

north Wales, in an area where there

is little surplus water, has shown that

by involving schooichildren in water
efficiency measures and adopting water
efficient devices, both primary and
secondary schools can reduce metered
consumption by between 20% and 409%.

Managing our community assets
Welsh Water owns over 40,000 hectares
of tand and is custodian of some of the
most scenic areas of Wales, which is
rich in both biodiversity and heritage
and provides significant opportunity
for public recreation. We recognise that
we have a duty to manage this 'nationat
asset'responsibly.

Each year almost a million pecple visit

one of the 17 major reservoir sites at

which we provide a variety of sporting,

recreational and leisure resources, This

encourages public health and well being, ‘
but also makes a valuable contribution to

tourism and the local economy. Last year |
the visitor centre at Llyn Brenig remained :
open over the winter months, doubling

the number of winter visitors to this site

to 80,000. Learning from this successful

trial will be extended to other locations

where there is sufficient visitor demand.

In addition to facilities for recreational
and competition fishing, including
facilities for disabled anglers, our
reservoir programmes offer guided walks,
bird and other species watching safaris,
and wildlife boat trips. At designated sites
we also provide facilities for individuals
who wish to sail or canoe, both through
organised clubs and privately,
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We encourage conservation best

practice across the business. Our major
reservoirs have a site specific habitat and
species plan, we support the delivery

of biodiversity action plans of local
authorities and we provide habitats
surveys, data and information to the Welsh
Biodiversity Local Record Centres. We also
work with the Countryside Council for
Wales's environmental and wildlife crime
officers to provide training for our staff
and to promote wildlife crime awareness.

Last year we also signed a memorandum
of understanding with the 4 Welsh
archaeological trusts to provide a
framework for how we will work together
to protect our archaeological heritage.

100,000

children visited
education centres.
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Supporting community projects

We do not engage in corporate
sponscrship. Instead we focus on
supporting staff in community schemes.
Many Welsh Water staff contribute to a
‘World of Work’ scheme which provide
business mentoring and interview
support for young people about to leave
schooi. Participants in our management
development programme also take

part in a volunteer project to enhance
skills learned on the course and help

the community. In one recent challenge
12 middle managers spent 2 days
working with a social enterprise body
that provides outdoor training for groups
of 16-18 year old excluded youths.

1,000,000

visitors to 17 major
reservoir sites.

WaterAid

We support WaterAid, the international
charity, which brings sustainable water
and sanitation schemes and hygiene
education to some of the world’s poorest
communities in Africa and Asia. Last year,
we sponsored our peripatetic teacher

to visit Africa to see first hand how
donations from Wales were benefiting
poor cammunities, and learning from
this has been used to refresh the global
citizenship aspect of our education
service, This was the third in a series

of annual visits by Welsh Water staff.

£150 million

raised for WaterAid.
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While Glas Cymru has not been immune to the impact of the severe economic recession,
we have delivered a sound financial performance during the year to 31 March 2009,

It has been a year of continued investment and our ongoing commitment to the
‘tustomer dividend’ has helped customers to cope during the downturn,

Financial review

Appointed revenue has grown due to
regulatory price increases which support
our extensive capital investment and

the delivery of better customer service.
Despite the impact on operating

profits of reduced demand and higher
operational expenditure, we increased
the‘customer dividend'in the year to
£21 per customer,

Capital investment in our regulated water
and wastewater operations including
infrastructure renewals expenditure ('IRE’)
amounted to £355 million during the
year, This is 18% higher than last year, and
represents a record level of investment
spend for Glas Cymiru.

The group has a strong liquidity
position, with capital investment pre-
funded through to 31 March 2010.

This was enhanced recently by the
signing of a £100 million loan facility
with the European Investment Bank and
a £60 million finance lease with HSBC.

In spite of the impact of the recession and
these additional borrowings, gearing has
been maintained at 72% which sustains
continued access to capital markets,

Revenue

Glas Cymru’s turnover in the year to

31 March 2009 was £657 million

{2008: £623 million}, an increase of
5.5% on last year. This increase primarily
reflects the price increase of 7.6%,
however our ‘customer dividend' policy
means that our total charges in the year
were some £27 million lower than if

we had applied the full price increase
determined by Ofwat (2008: £26 million
lower). Additional revenue from new
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customers has been offset by household
customers switching to metered charging.
The impact of reduced consumption
amounts to £3 million, with demand from
our business customers down some 3%,

During the year we introduced a new
tariff - Welsh Water Assist — broadening
our existing range of assistance tariffs
to help support customers who have
difficulty paying their water bills.

Operational expenditure

Glas Cymru’s total operating costs
(excluding {RE and depreciation) were
£267 millicn {2008: £234 million),
representing an increase in real terms of
some 11% due to higher power costs and

anincrease in the provision for bad debts.

Around two thirds of operating costs
relate to outsourced service contracts.
Our major contracts are with United
Utilities Operating Services {for the
operation of the water network and the
wastewater network in nhorth Wates}
and with Kelda Water Services (for the
operation of the wastewater network
in south Wales and Herefordshire).
These contracts include a target cost
mechanism aimed at enhancing
operating efficiency to the end of the
current regulatory period in 2010

All water and sewerage companies need
to draw on significant energy resources,
particularly for water treatment and
pumping processes, and Welsh Water —
with its network spread across Wales's
undulating topography - is no exception.
This year we have experienced increases
in energy prices which have driven power

costs up by over 40% to £42 million
{2008: £29 million). Improved working
practices and investment in energy
efficient schemes can only partly offset
price increases, and, under the target
cost arrangements, the residual upward
cost pressures are not borne in full by our
service partners.

Customer debt recovery continues to

be a high pricrity for Welsh Water and
our billing and income contract partner,
Veolia Water. In a challenging economic
environment, in which water companies
have no sanction to disconnect supplies
to non-paying domestic customers, cash
collection performance has deteriorated
somewhat. The bad debt charge for the
year of £19 million (2008; £13 million)
represents around 3% of annual turnover
(2008: 2%}, and reftects an increase in the
provision based on a review of historical
collections and having regard to the
deterioration experienced towards the
end of the year.

Investment income and finance expense
Reported net interest payable of £166
mitlion is £7 million higher than last year

- the impact of lower interest rates has
been offset by a higher indexation charge
in respect of the index-linked bonds
{calculated using July 2007 to July 2008
RPI). The average cost of debt during the
period was 6.6% (2008: 6.3%).

In response to the crisis in the banking
markets, the Company has tightened
its criteria for investing cash deposits,
such that maximum deposits with any
single counterparty are reduced and
the maximum term limited to 1 month.
Consequently, the average interest
receivable rate has fallen {from 6.0% to
3.99%) further than the average 3 month
LIBOR over the same period (from 6.1%
to 4.4%).

Glas Cymru has a number of swap
contracts and, while these are effective
commercial hedges, they do not qualify
for hedge accounting under tAS 39.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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Although there is no impact on cash
flows, there is increased volatility in the
income statement and fair value losses in
2008-09 are significantly higher than last
year as tumultuous markets throughout
2008-09 have led to daily variances

in interest rate expectations. This has
resulted in a total liability of £158 million
in the balance sheet but, assuming that
the swaps are held to maturity, this will
ultimately reduce to nil.

Loss before taxation

Excluding fair value movements, the

loss before taxation was £11 million
{2008; profit before taxation of £11
miltion). This loss was made after funding
the ‘customer dividend’ of £21 for all

£355 million

largest ever annual capital
investment programme,

customers receiving both water and
wastewater services, at a total of £27
million (2008: £20 per customer, totalling
£26 million), Bills for the current year have
been reduced by a higher dividend of £22
per customer,

Taxation

The taxation charge for 2008-09 will have
ng impact on cash flows and is primarily
the effect of a deferred tax credit at 28%
of the loss before taxation for the year,
offset by a £37 million charge following
the abolition of Industrial Buildings
Allowances.

£21

‘customer dividend’ for
every customer in 2008-09.

Key characteristics of the Bonds currently in issue

Liquidity

Glas Cymru aims to offer a secure, low
risk investment to long term investors.
By building and maintaining a strong
financial position, we aim to keep our
borrowing costs low, enabling us to
finance future investment in the business
efficiently, whilst retaining the scope to
return money to our customers and keep
bills affordable through our progressive
‘customer dividend’ policy.

£1 billion

‘customer equity”

Net debt and reserves
00 2008

As at 31 March fm tm
Requlatory Capital Value {RCV} 1626 3509
et debs {2,625) (2,531}
‘Reserves’ ROV less net debt) 1,000 998
Gearing (net debt/RCY)
Senior debt 6%% 63%
Senior debt + dass ( bonds 712% 8%
Total debt 12% 8%
Credit ratings of Glas Cymru bonds

Standard

& Poors Moody's
Class A Bands A A3
(lass B Bands A A3
Class € Bonds 8BB4+ Bax? BBB+

The ratings ef the Qass A bonds, which have the benefit of 2 finandal

guaranies from MEIA, are the higher of the underlying ratings of these
bands (A3/A/A} and the ratings of MBIA (B3/BBB.+/-).

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig

Company Number: 3975719

Bond Nominal Interest rate
days fonissue} {m {on issue)
At 350 6.015%
A 265 1.514%
AS 8 3518
A6* 100 4473%
B1 315 5.907%
B3 19 4371%
B4 75 4.375%
BS 50 1.375%
Qa 15 B8114%

Bonds issuad by Dve Cymru (Financing) Limited.

Interest Expected Legat

basis maturity maturity

Fexed rate 31 March 2028 31 March 2028
Index-linked 31 March 2030 31 March 2030
Index-linked 31 March 2031 31 March 2031
Fixed rate 31 March 2057 37 March 2057
Fixed rate 31 March 2021 31 March 2021
Index-linked 31 March 2026 31 March 2026
Index-linked 31 March 2027 31 March 2027
Index-linked 31 March 2057 31 March 2057
Fixed rate 31 March 2011 31 March 2036

For full detaits of bands refer ta Prospectus dated 4 Decembet 2006, available on our website www.dwreyme.com

* Swapped 10 an effective index-linked rate of 1.35%.
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In addition to cash generated from ongoing
business operations, Welsh Water has
undrawn committed liquidity facilities of
£420 million (2008: £345 million), £305
million relates to a committed syndicated
revolving credit facility available to be
drawn unti} 30 September 2011. There

is also a bilateral facility of £40 million
available to be drawn until 30 June 2012,
and the balance of £75 million on the
European Investment Bank loan facility (see
below}, In view of the high level of liquidity
totalling £559 million (2008: £469 million),
the business has not raised further bond
finance during the year.

Gearing and financial reserves

On Glas Cymru’s acquisition of Welsh
Water in May 2001, gearing stood at
93%. Since then, its financial position has
improved steadily, such that gearing had
fallen to 72% as at 31 March 2009 and
‘financial reserves’ (RCV less net debt) had
reached £1 billion for the first time.

Credit ratings and bond spreads

Gtas Cymru’s listed bonds have continued
to be valued at wide spreads over
Government gilts as a consequence of
the difficult conditions in the banking
and capital markets. However, this has
typically been at margins below those of
many equivalent water sector bonds of
similar maturities,

The continued strong credit quality of
the business is reflected in stable cradit
ratings, which are amongst the highest in
the water sector.

Debt financing and interest rate
management

Despite very difficult conditions in the
borrowing and capital markets, Glas
Cymru has raised £100 million additional
finance from the European Investment
Bank during the year to help fund its
current five year AMP4 capital investment
programme to 2010. £25 million of this
facility was drawn on 15 December 2008,
while the remaining £75 million remains
available to be drawn until 22 Aprif 2010,

riy

On 27 March 2009, Welsh Water secured
a further £60 million via a long funding
lease of plant and equipment with a
leasing subsidiary of HSBC Bank plc
which will be repaid over the period to
March 2017,

To protect Glas Cymru's high credit
quality, the Board has always adopted
prudent financial policies, predominantly
covering the fixing of interest rates

and the investment of cash balances.
Glas Cymru’s policy is to minimise its
exposure to movements in market rates,
with a minimum of 85% of its liabilities
being fixed rate, index-linked to the

UK Retail Price Index ('RPI') or matched
by cash balances. The Board considers
that linking debt to UK RPl inflation

is particularly appropriate, as Welsh
Water's revenues and Regulatory Capital
Value are also linked to RPI through

the regulatory system operated by
Ofwat. Implementation of the policies is
delegated to a small team of specialists
which operates to ensure that Welsh
Water meets the requirements of its
licence, and therefore undertakes no
speculative trading. As at 31 March 2009,
approximately 583 of gross debt was
index-linked via bonds and derivatives
{2008: 56%).

The expected maturity of the outstanding
fixed rate and index-linked bonds ranges
from 2011 to 2057, with not more than
20% falling due in any 2 year period, in
accordance with our refinancing policy.

Capital investment

Glas Cymru’s strong financial position
has been built up over the last 7 years,
and provides a stable base from which it
can respond positively to the challenges
of the current economic recession and
drive forward its largest ever capital
programme. Nearly £1,2 billion has been
invested since April 2005, bringing high
value and long term improvements to
customer service, drinking water quality
and the environment.

Total capital expenditure by Welsh Water
during the year (including IRE} was £355
million (2008: £301 million), bringing the
total expenditure over the first 4 years

of the 5 year AMP4 period to £1,162
million, some 77% of the total AMP4
programme, Welsh Water works with an
alliance of capital investment partners

to deliver the investment programme at
the best value for money for customers.
In 2008-09, annual capital investment
exceeded £350 million for the first time
ever for Welsh Water, and building on this
achievement Welsh Water is planning to
invest a further £350 million to the end of
the current AMP period in 2010.

Looking ahead

The Board’s policy is to reduce gearing to

around 70%, and maintain it at around

this level. A key part of our strategy is |
to minimise customer bills in the long
term and the Beard judges that this level
of gearing will enable the Company to
efficiently fund the AMPS5 investment
programme which will run to 2015,

Welsh Water's published plan for the
period 2010 to 2015 proposes a sustained
high level of capital investment, including
key projects to enhance the protection

of drinking water quality, mitigate the
worst impacts of sewer flooding, reduce
the environmental impact of the business
and improve customer service. All this

is to be achieved with the average
household customer’s bill in 2015 being
the same in real terms as it is today.
According to Ofwat research, over 90%
of Welsh Water's customers endorsed its
draft business plan which was released
last summer.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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Achievement of our financial objectives
is threatened mainly by upward cost
pressures and the risk of RPI deflation.
Welsh Water has sought to minimise
the risk of cost increases by securing in
advance the resources for a long-term
programme of work, and by maximising
the efficiency of programme design and
working practices.

Disclaimer

This Report contains certain forward
looking statements with respect to

the future business prospects and the
strategies of the Glas Cymru Group.
These statements and forecasts involve
risk and uncertainty because they relate
to events and depend on circumstances

/2%

gearing - reduced
from 93% in 2001.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number: 3975719

that will occur in the future. There are

a number of factors that could cause
actual results or developments to

differ materially from those expressed

or implied by these forward looking
statements. Past performance is no guide
to future performance and persons
needing advice should consult an
independent financial adviser.

£1.7 billion

of finance raised since 2001.

A3

corporate family rating
from Moody's.

n




GLAS CYMRU | Report and Accounts 2009

The water industry is a long term and capital intensive industry, and our job is to look
after the water industry in the region served by Welsh Water on behalf of both today's
customers and future generations. The decisions we make today on investment in
our £19 billion network of assets will be felt for tens of years to come.

Planning for the future

Every 5 years Ofwat carries out a Periodic
Price Review to set an upper limit on the
amount water and sewerage companies
can charge their customers, The last
Review was completed in November 2004
and set prices for the 5 years 2005-10.
The current Review will determine price
limits for the 5 years 2010-15 and Ofwat
will be making its ‘Final Determination’in
December 2009.

Customer bills and investment

In deciding what needs to be done in

the years ahead, a balance has to be
struck between affordability on the one
hand and the quality and reliability of
service on the other. The water industry
everywhere is very capital intensive

and Welsh Water employs a network of
reservoirs, treatment works, pumping
stations, and mains and sewers which has
a replacement vatue of some £19 billion -
around £15,000 per customer,

Much of what Welsh Water does day to
day to deliver a high quality and reliable
customer service involves operating
and maintaining this large network of
often very long life assets. Network
performance is therefore key to the
service we give our customers as well as
our ability to protect the environment
from pollution. It follows that the key
trade-off is between affordability and
investment in our network of assets,

Final Business Plan

Our Final Business Plan, pubtished in
April this year and submitted to Ofwat
for the 2009 Periodic Price Review, sats
out what we want to achieve over the
coming 3 years.
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Our goal is to make sure, as far as possible,
that what we do in the coming years
comprises the best possible package of
outcomes and delivers a public service
that our customers would accept as being
good value for money.

It makes steady progress towards the
goals set out in “Our Sustainable Future”,
published in 2007, which set out our
long term vision for the water industry

in our region.

» Protecting public health. Qur biggest
responsibility is to provide a safe and
reliable drinking water supply to our
customers at all times. In the next

5 years we plan to undertake
significant refurbishment and upgrade
work at about a third of our water
treatment works, including the
installation of enhanced treatment to
deal with deteriorating source water
quality and other risks identified in our
Drinking Water Safety Plans,
Safeguarding the environment.

We are targeting zero serious pollution
incidents and a significant reduction
in minor incidents caused by
breakdowns on our sewer network plus
additional treatment stages at some
50 sites to protect river and coastal
water quality.

Responding to climate change.

By impraving energy efficiency,
including advanced sludge digestion
at 3 sites, we are seeking methods

to achieve a 25% reduction in our
‘carbon footprint’ by 2015. We will also
complete a number of Sustainable
Urban Drainage schemes to reduce
the risk of flooding from overtoaded
sewers and added protection at some
15 critical sites most at risk of flooding.
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» Meeting our customers'expectations.
By improving the reliability of our
networks, reducing the risk of sewer
flooding, tackling over 450 knaown and
forecast problems, and using the latest
technalogy to anticipate and therefore
prevent service faitures we will improve
customer service by giving first time
resolution to day to day problems.

» Looking after our assets, We will use

our Strategic Investment Planning

System to prioritise and inform

long term investment decisions and

maintain our £19 billion network of

long life assets.

Financing the business. We are

targeting gearing at around 70% and

an ‘A grade’ corporate rating, which we
will achieve by further efficiencies in

operating costs and in delivering a

£1.4 billion investment programme.

» Employer of choice. We will maintain

a highly skilled team of people,

committed to high quality customer

care and logking after this long term
industry for future generations.

Affordability and value for money.

Affordability will always be a top

priority for us and our Final Business

Plan proposes that average household

bills will be no higher in 2015 than

today, having allowed for changes in

RPlinflation.

B
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AMPS capital investment programme
Our Final Business Plan provides for
investment over the AMPS5 period
2010-15 of £1.4 billion, similar in scale to
AMP4 investment in the 5 years 2005-10.

Highlights of our AMPS investment

programme include;

» improved facilities at 23 water treatment
sites to address risks to the quality of
drinking water;

» enhanced treatment at 14 wastewater
sites to protect coastal water quality;

» advanced sludge digestion at 3 sites
to reduce energy costs and our carbon
footprint;

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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» renewal of aver 500km of water mains
which cause repeated interruptions
to supply;

» aninitial programme to start to remove
surface water from our sewer network

» ongeing investment to reduce the
number of sewer flooding incidents;

» phase 2 of our IT enabled change
programme to improve efficiency and
customer service; and

» new infrastructure to supply new
housing and support economic
development.

Asset maintenance represents nearly
70% of the planned AMPS programme
compared with just under 50% of the
AMP4 programme.

Significant refurbishment and
upgrade work at a third of our
water treatment works.

Water supply
(allin 2007-08 prices)

AMP3  AMP4  AMPS
2000-05  2005-10  2010-15

Functional area im £m Em
Water resources and leakage 63 2} 99
Water treatment 90 142 2166
Water distribution 109 408 258
Business support 14 53 66
Total 476 696 689

AMPI  AMPA  AMPS
200005 2005-10 2010-15

Ofwat requiatory accounting im fm fm
Maintaining base service 6 392 452
Enhanced service levels 0 0 [
Quality 150 408 258
Supply demand 50 52 81
Total 476 6% 689
Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig

Company Number; 3975719

Welsh Water employs assets with a value
of some £19 billion and the planned
AMPS investment on maintenance is
equivalent to less than 1% of this figure
annually meaning that our network of
assets will continue to get older over the
AMPS period 2010-15,

Impact on customer bills

By targeting further efficiencies in
operating costs and by maintaining
financing efficiency, our Final Business
Plan shows that we can deliver the

£1.4 billion AMPS investment programme
with average household bills moving
broadly in line with inflation over the

5 years to 2015.

25% target reduction in our
carbon footprint by 2015,

Sewerage and wastewater treatment
(all in 2007-08 prices}

AMP3  AMP4  AMPS
000-05  2005-10 201015

Functiona area im im fm
Sewerage 414 n P11
Wastewater treatment 183 245 262
Biosolids h 14 106
Business suppart i 63 48
Tatal 813 733 667

AMP3 AMP4A AMPS
100005 2005-10  2010-15
Ofwat regulatary accounting fm fm fm

Maintaining base service 19 m 456
Enhanced service levels 42 67 4
Quality 565 1 97
Supply demand 14 48 n
Total 813 m 667

Welsh Water was the only regulated water
and sewerage company to propose no
real increase in average household bills in
the period 2010-15.

Welsh Water's bill is still higher than the
UK average bill, but only because Welsh
Water, with its long coastline, employs
more wastewater treatment assets per
customer than most other companies.
Moareover, average household incomes
are lower in Wales than elsewhere.

We have been able to mitigate this
disadvantage through our growing
‘customer dividend,, and keeping our bills
affordable in the years ahead, espeacially
for our least well off customers, remains a
key consideration in our plans.

Zero serious pollution
incidents targeted.
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Glas Cymru cannot diversify into activities unrelated to those of a regulated water
and sewerage business in the region served by Welsh Water, but otherwise we face
the same risks as any other company in the UK utility sector, and no company is
insulated from the impact of economic recession, climate change or a changing

regulatory environment.

Managing risk

The Company is affected by certain risks,
not wholly within our control, which
could have a material impact on our
long-term performance. Many of the
risk factors affecting the Company are
business risks that can be effectively
mitigated by ensuring that appropriate
controls are in place. However, some are
inherent risks based upon the nature of
our business and other external factors
and the most important of these are
described below. This section should

be read in conjunction with the internal
contral and risk management section of
this report found on page 36.

The assessment and mitigation of risk is

a key priority for the Board, which has
overall responsibility for ensuring that
there is an effective framework operating
for risk management and internal control.
All risk is assessed in terms of its potential
to prevent the Company from achieving
its objective of providing high quality and
affordable drinking water and wastewater
services to Welsh Water's customers and
of looking after the water industry in the
region served by Welsh Water for today’s
customers and future generations.

Regulatory risk

Regulatory risk can arise from Ofwat’s
price control determinations, from the
requirement to comply with Ofwat’s
extensive data requirements and more
generally from changes in the regulatory
environment.
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There is a risk surrounding Ofwat’s ‘final
determination’ of price limits for the next
regulatory period 2010-15 both with
respect to its assumption about the cost
of capital allowance, and the regulatory
assumptions it makes in respect of
operating costs, required capital
investment or revenue forecasts. These
could affect the ability of the Company to
secure funding at a cost and maturity that
is efficient. Welsh Water's Final Business
Plan has sought to mitigate this risk by,
inter alia, including challenging targets
for further efficiency savings and by
proposing that the household bill in 2015
will be no higher in real terms than now.

The transfer of private sewers would
increase our sewer network by more than
70% and we judge that the condition of
these private sewers is poor and below
the standard of assets that the industry is
generally required to operate. The Welsh
Assembly Government has indicated that
this transfer will take place some time
after April 2011,

The Environment Agency has indicated
that we may have to plan for major
reductions in the volumes of water we
abstract from a number of rivers, mostly
in south Wales, in order te comply with
the EU Habitats Directive. There is also a
possibility that stretches of the north east
Irish Sea might be designated as ‘sensitive
waters’ under the Urban Wastewater
Treatment Directive, which would require
Welsh Water to extend a number of
coastal wastewater treatment works,

These potential changes to our
obligations, which together could require
avery large increase in investment
expenditure, are not included in our

Final Business Plan and if confirmed

may fall to be funded through an
‘interim determination’ by Ofwat of price
limits, the outcome of which would be
uncertain,

Welsh Water has to provide extensive
data to regulators each year in respect

of all aspects of our business. Failure 1o
provide reliable, accurate and complete
data will trigger regulatory sanction and
fines. All regulatory data submitted is
subject to comprehensive scrutiny and
due diligence. In spring 2008, our process
of data collation and verification was
accredited to 150 9001:2000, and this
accreditation was retained in spring 2009.

Ofwat has a duty to promote competition
where it judges it to be in the best
interests of customers. Ofwat recently
granted an inset appointment to a

new entrant in the water industry in
Wales, a deciston we have taken steps to
chalienge by seeking judicial clarification
of an important point of principle.

The effect of this inset will be to cause
customers’ bills outside the inset area to
be higher than they would have been
had the inset not been granted, and we
do not believe this to be in the interests
of Welsh Water's customers, Should more
insets be granted by Ofwat, we judge that
risk may be higher due to, inter alia, the
changes in responsibilities and nature of
working that would follow.

Ofwat is proposing that the industry
accounts for each element in the ‘value
chain’ separately as a possible precursor
to legal separation of distinct activities.
The latter will require changes to the
current legal framework. The Welsh
Assembly Government has indicated
that it will consult on the conclusions
of the Cave Review of competition and
innovation in water markets, and the
extent to which these should be included
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in the Floods and Water Management Bill,
which has been published in draft. Some
of the conclusions of the Cave Review
would, if adopted, lead to a change in the
structure of the industry and could have
serious implications for the Company.
We will engage in the consultation
process to ensure that, as far as possible,
we protect the long term interests of the
Company and Welsh Water's customers.

Operational risk

We have reassessed operational risk
following the experience of the last
2 years where we have experienced
more frequent and extremes of
weather, particular storms,

More generally, operational risk is varied
and may include:

» the impact of major operational
incidents on public health,
environmental quality or customer
service, whether arising from
equipment failure, from natural events
{such as‘acts of God' or more extreme
weather events as a consequence of
climate change) or from third party
interference with Welsh Water’s assets
and equipment;

changes in environmental, consumer
protection and public health and safety
law and regulation, which typically
require ever higher standards of
performance;

» the health and safety risk associated
with the operation of a large and
complicated network of assets;

the risk of losing and failing to recruit
key people in Welsh Water to ensure we
have the competencies and experience
needed to meet our long-term
abligations; and

the changes associated with our
programme of IT enabled change
which is upgrading old IT systems

and introducing simplified and more
robust business processes to enable a
more efficient delivery of services to
customers.
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Policies and operational strategies

exist to mitigate each of the risks that
could create an adverse effect on the
reputation, operating results and financial
position of Welsh Water. Business risk

is mitigated by the availability and

terms of insurance - covering property,
business interruption, public liability,
environmental pollution and employer's
liability.

Financial risk

Welsh Water is exposed to a number

of financial risks, many of which are
heightened at a time of ecanomic
recession. These include:

» revenue risk, such as a reduction in
metered demand, and the loss of large
business customers;

the collection of customer charges and
non-recovery of customer debt;

failure by Welsh Water to achieve
targets set by Ofwat at price reviews
for operating and capital efficiency,

or to deliver the capital investment
programme on time and within
budget;

external cost pressures, for example
the impact of changes in power prices,
which could prevent the business from
achieving operating and capital cost
efficiency targets;

deflation and the impact on both
revenues and regulatory asset value
from a negative Retail Price Index; and
access to capital markets while the
business remains cashflow negative
with cantinuing large capital
investment programmes,
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The overall financial risk is that Glas
Cymru may not be able to finance

the operating and capital investment
obligations of Welsh Water, which
continue to be financed from cash flow
from operations (that is, customers’bills)
and the raising of finance from the capital
markets.

Under our Common Terms Agreement we
are required to ensure that the business
has sufficient committed facilities

available to meet at least 12 months
anticipated net cash requirement. The
Glas Cymru group’s financial position

at 31 March 2009 shows a significant
balance of cash and undrawn borrowing
facilities available, which gives the
business a high degree of liquidity. The
impact of deflation is mitigated by the
high proportion of index-linked debt
issued by the Company.

Procurement risk

This is a particular risk for Welsh Watey,
with some 85% of annual operating and
capital expenditure being undertaken

by outsourced service partners working
for Welsh Water under contract, Qur
framework for competitive outsourcing is
described in our Procurement Plan, which
is available on our website,

Current contract arrangements for

water and wastewater services were
putin place following a competitive
re-tendering in 2004, and provide for
contract partners to work with Welsh
Water for up to 15 years. These working
arrangements are kept under regular
review and every 5 years they are subject
to a price and performance review ta
ensure that Welsh Water's customers
continue to receive high quality and best
value for money services. This review
will take place in the current year to
align with Ofwat'’s Final Determination.
Contracts have been designed to
encourage first tier suppliers to view
their involvement with Welsh Water on

a long term basis, thereby reducing the
risk of short term conflict of interest and
encouraging greater invastment in the
resources, people and systems needed to
continue to deliver high levels of service
to Welsh Water customers. In addition,
Welsh Water retains the ability to take
direct control of activities carried out
under contract should performance
deteriorate, or risk falling below the
standards required by Welsh Water.
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Definition, purpose and

target for each KP|

Progress

Measure Purpose Source Target toTarget
Overall bacteriological Aaimpartant measure of the quality of water Drinking Water Inspectorate 1009% of all assets compliant. x
water quality supplied to customers is tompliance with We achieved 99.77% compliance in 2008-09.
Strateqy; Custamer service bacterialogical standards. There Is also a correlation

between failures in bacteriological quality and

unsatisfactory water supplied to customers.

This measure is nct a component of Ofwat’s OPA index.
Customer satistaction Since 2001 the Board has manitored customer Beaufort Researth To matntain consistent high level of customer v
Strateqy: (ustomey service satisfaction with the services provided by Welsh satisfaction.

Waten via a six manthly customer opinion survey This has been maintained in 2008-09.

undertaken by Beaufort Research. Althaogh

customer opinion can be Influenced {often adversely)

by media coverage of events elsewhere in the UK

water industry, this is an important indicatar of the

cornpany's progress.
Health and safety AlRisa statistical index used by the Health and June Return To have one of the best AIR of the UK’s water and v
(Accident Incdent Rate — AIR) Safety Executive (HSE) to benchmark company sewerage companies and to compare favourably
Strategy: Occupational health  and sectar relative performance. it is the number with appropriate HSE benchmark for AIR.
and safety of reportable incidents occurring in & reported This target was achieved in 2008-09,

period per 100,000 employees.
Bond credit rating A direct way of further reducing Welsh Water's Rating agendes apply their own definition and Corporate credit rating of A grade. v
Strategy: Financing finandng cost is t& improve the credit rating of the methodology in assessing bond <redit rating, This was maintained in 2008-09

group’s corporate hands. Executive directors are Bond ratings ace independently determined

incentivised to maintain bond ratings by three rating agencies: Standard & Poor’s,

Moody's and Fitch Lovell,

{ustomer Dividend Aswell 2 improving credit quality, finandng Glas Cymru Audited Acmunls ?mgrsme tusmmer dmdend’ pd:(y v
Strategy: Customer value effidency is used to build up reserves to insulate This has been maintained — the ‘customer dividend”

Welsh Water and its customers from unexpected was Increased to £21 in 2008-09 (2007-08: £20).

costs and to have scope to returi soney to Jt was further increased to £22 for the financial year

customers through sustained ‘tustomer dividends’ that commented on 1 Apel 200,

Through the ‘tustomer dividend, therefore, the

customers of Welsh Water share in the success of

the business.
Gearing Ihe Glas Cymru business model aims to r:duce Glas Cymiu Investor Report To reduce gearing to around 70%. v
Strateqy; Finanding Welsh Water’s asset finanting cost, the Industry’s At 31 March 2009 gearing was 72% {2008: 72%)

single biggest cost. Improved aedit quality s key

to keeping Welsh Water's cost of finance a5 low

as possible. Gearing is the ratio of Net Debt to

Regulatory Capital Vatue of Welsh Water.
Interest caver Meﬂmg interest cover covenants iskeyto Glas (ymru Investor Report To maintain |nteresl cover condstent with v
Strategy: Finandng raintaining investor confidence and to keeping target credit rating.

Welsh Water's cost of finance as low as possible. This has been maintained in 2008-09

Inzerest cover is the ratio of operating cashflow

{before maintenance) to net interest (excluding

indexation).
Ovetall Performance OPA is the measure pablished by Ofwat of each Ofwat Upper quartile performance refative to the ten water v
Assessment (OPA} company's overall delivery of service to customers. and sewerage companies i England snd Wales.
Strateqy: Customet service It reflects a broad range of services provided to We believe this has been achieved in 2008-09 in which

customers across key areas of water supply, sewerage we scared 406 OPA paints.

service, security of supply, customer service and

environmental impact.
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The Directors

Lord Burns

Chairman™

Appointed Non-Executive Chairman in July
2000, Lord Burns (65) is chairman of Abbey
National Plc and a Non-Executive director

of Banco Santander and Pearson Group Plc.
Formerly he was Chairman of the National
Lottery Commission and of Marks and Spencer
Group ple, and a Non-Executive Director of
Legal & General Group Pic and The British
Land Company Plc. A former Chief Economic
Adviser and Permanent Secretary to HM
Treasury, he was made a life peer in 1998,

Nigel Annett

Managing Director @™

Appointed Managing Director in January 2005,
Mt Annett (50) has been an Executive Oirector of
Glas Cymiru since April 2000, and of Dvr Cymru
Welsh Water since May 2001. He was previously
a Director of Welsh Water between 1992 and
2000, prior 1o which he held various investment
banking positions with Schroders, County
Natwest and Wasserstein Perella.

Chris Jones

Finance Director

Appointed Finance Director of Glas Cymru

in April 2000 and of Dwr Cymru Welsh Water
in May 2001, Mr Jones (45) was previgusly
Director of Regulation of Welsh Water and
South Wales Electricity Plc. Before joining
Welsh Water in 1995, he was a Director at
National Economic Research Associates and,
prior to that, worked for HM Treasury. He is

a Non-Executive Director of the Principality
Building Society, a Member of the Board of the
Institute of Welsh Affairs and Deputy Chairman
of The Prince's Trust - Cymru.

Peter Perry

Operations Director'®

Appointed Operations Director in July 2006,
Mr Perry (47) has a civil engineering
background and was formerly the Chief
Operating Officer for United Utilities
Operational Services (UUOS), having previously
been the Operations Director for UUOS with
responsibility for the operational contract with
Welsh Water and WUQS's water interests in
Scotland and Ireland.
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Prior to jeining UUOS he worked for

Dwr Cymeu Welsh Water for over 17 years.
He is also a Director (representing Wales)

at The Water Regulations Advisory Service,
the national body specifying standards for
materials and workmanship used in potable
water supply,

Jehn Bryant

Non-Executive Directari@i®

Appointed a Non-Executive Director in
March 2001, Mr Bryant {65} is a former

Chief Executive of British Steel and, until
December 2000, was Joint Chief Executive of
Corus Plc. He is a Non-Executive Director of
Costain Group Plc, and was a Non-Executive
Director of Bank of Wales Plc between 1996
and 2001.

Geraint Talfan Davies

Non-Executive Director®®H

Appointed a Non-Executive Directorin

July 2000, Mr Davies (65) is a former journalist
whose career spanned both public and private
sector broadcasting (including Controller

of BBC Wales throughout the 1990s), He is
Chairman of the Institute of Welsh Affairs

and of Welsh National Opera, a member of

the board of Wales Millennium Centre and a
trustee of The Media Standards Trust. He is also
a former Chairman of The Arts Council Wales.

Darme Deirdre Hine

Non-Executive Director!@®xs

Appointed a Nen-Executive Directorin
March 2001, Dame Deirdre {71} is Chairman
of the BUPA Foundation, Chairman of the
Public Inquiry into the outbreak of clostridium
difficile in hospitals in Northern lreland and
President of the Royal Medical Benevolent
Fund. She is a past President of the British
Medical Association and The Royal Society
of Medicine, a former Chairman of the
Commission for Health Improverment, and a
former Chief Medical Officer for Wales,
Dame Deirdre was awarded the DBE in 1996
for services to medicine.

Tony Hobson

Non-Executive Directorihiv

Appointed a Non-Executive Director in
February 2001, Mr Hobson {61} is the Chairman
of The Sage Group plc and of Northern Foods
Pic. A Chartered Accountant, he was Group
Finance Director of Legal & General Group Plc
for fifteen years until his retirement in 2001,

James Strachan

Non-Executive Director® him

Appointed a Non-Executive Directorin

June 2007, Mr Strachan (55) is a Non-Executive
Director of Legal & General Group Plc, Care
UK Plc, Sarasin and Partners LLP and Social
Finance Limited. Among his previous roles he
has bean Chairman of the Audit Commission
and of RNID (the disability charity), a Board
Member of Cfgem (the energy regulator),

a Non-Executive Director of the Bank of
England, the DTl Business and Energy Boards
and the National Lottery Community Fund,
and a Disability Rights Commissioner. Earlier
in his career Mr Strachan was a Managing
Director of Merrill Lynch, the international
investment bank.

Bob Ayling

Non-Executive Director @™

Appointed a Non-Executive Director in

April 2008, Mr Ayling (62) is Chairman of the
Internasional Dispute Resclution Centre and
Vice-Chairman of Dyson Limited. A solicitor by
profession, with 20 years in the City of London
and as a senicr government legal advisor at
the Department of Trade and Industry, he
was Managing Director and Chief Executive

of British Airways plc from 1993 to 2000.

He is alsc a former Chairman of Holidaybreak
plc and Nan-Executive Director of Royal &
Sunalliance Insurance Group,

Membership of Board Committees
(N} Nominations

{A) Audit

(Q) Quality and Environment

{R) Remuneraticn
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Full colour version available from our website, dwrcymru.com

Top left to right: Lord Burns, Nige! Annett,

Chris Janes, Peter Perry, and John Bryant.

The Membets
There are presently 82 Members, including
the Directors of Glas Cymru.

A key role of the Members is to ensure that
the business remains focused on its primary
purpose of providing efficient high quality
water and sewerage services to Welsh Water's
customers. In so doing Members carry out an
important corporate governance role,

Members are selected in accordance with

a process overseen by an independent
Membership Selection Panel, which is
required to maintain a balanced and diverse
membership, which as far as possible is
broadly reflective of the range of customer
and other stakeholder interests served by
Welsh Water.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number: 3975719

Bottom left to right: Geraint Talfan Davies,
Dame Deidre Hine, Tony Hobson,
James Strachan, and Bob Ayling.

Membership is personal, therefore Members
do not represent any particular group or
stakeholder Interest. Members do not receive
fees nor do they have any other financial
interest in Glas Cymru.

Alist of the Members of Glas Cymru, together
with the Company’s Membership Palicy and
Terms of Reference of the Membership Selection
Panel, is published on the our website www.
dwrcymu.com or can be obtained by writing to
the Company Secretary.
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Directors' report

The Directors present their report and the
audited financial statements of Glas Cymru
Cyfyngedig (Glas Cymru) for the year ended
31 March 2009.

Principal activities

Glas Cymru is a company limited by guarantee
and is the holding company of the Glas Cymru
group. Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig {Welsh Wataer)
is the sixth largest of the 10 regional water and
sewerage companies in England and Wales
and is the principal trading company.

Following its acquisition by Glas Cymru in
2001, Welsh Water is the only UK utility to

be operated under a not-for-profit’ business
madel, whereby all financial surpluses are
retained in the business as reserves, invested
in additional quality or service improvements
of returned to customers in the form of an
annual ‘customer dividend' Glas Cymru exists
only for one purpose - to create the financing
and operating conditions for Welsh Water
that will allow the company to provide high
quality water and sewerage services to more
than 3 million people at the least cost.

Welsh Water’s primary purpose and
responsibility is to operate, maintain and
upgrade the company's netwark of assets so as
1o ensure a safe and reliable supply of drinking
water and to deal effectively with wastewater
in order to protect public heaith and the
natural environment.

The Board's approach to governance

As a single purpose company, our long term
success has only one measure - the extent

to which we deliver value for the customers

of Welsh Water. As Glas Cymru has no
shareholders, when exercising judgement and
discretion, Directors seek to enhance customer
value and take decisions in the long term
interests of the customers of Welsh Water,

The key governance structures and internal
controls operated in Glas Cymru are described
in the governance report on page 33 of this
report. Through these mechanisms the Board
aims to apply high standards of corporate
governance and to meet the spirit of the
Combined Code in a manner framed to suit our
single purpose business model.
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Business review

The Companies Act 1985 requires that the
Directors’ Report should include a Business
Review which gives a fair review of the
development and performance of the business
and a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that it faces.

The operational performance of the business
and our approach to sustainability and
corporate responsiblity are described on
pages 5 to 17 of this report. The financial
performance is described in the Financial
Review on page 18. A statement of the
principal risks of the business ¢can be found on
page 24.The information contained in these
sections is incorporated into this Directors’
Report by reference to the extent necessary to
fulfil the requirements of a Business Review.

The Business Review includes a description
of our key stakeholders, Consideration of
the interests of these stakeholders and other
factors likely to impact on the success of the
business is an integral part of the Board's
decision-making process.

The 2009 Annual Report {including this
Directars’ Report) has been prepared for the
Members of Glas Cymru. It contains certain
information of a forward looking nature,
which has been provided by the Directors in
good faith using knowledge and information
available up to the date of this report. Forward
logking statements should be regarded with
caution because of the inherent uncertainties
in economic trends and business risks.

Financial performance and

‘tustomer dividend’

In 2008-09, customers benefited from a
‘customer dividend'of £27 million, or £21 per
customer served by Welsh Water (£10.50 for
water and £10.50 for wastewater services).
for the financial year 2009-10, for which bilis
have been issued, the ‘customer dividend’
was increased to £22 per household (£11 for
water and £11 for wastewater services), a total
of £28 million.

After payment of the ‘customer dividend; the
loss before tax for the financial year ended

31 March 2009 (excluding the fair value
movement on derivative financial instruments)
was E11m (2008; profit £11 million). At 31 March
2009 net debt as a percentage of requlatory
capital value of Welsh Water was 72% (2008:
729%) and we had a robust liquidity position
with £559 million of cash and undrawn bank
facllities, meaning that the business is funded to
2010 and beyond.

In April 2009 Welsh Water published its
investment plans and priorities for the period
2010 to 2015. These propose to maintain a
high tevel of capital expenditure, similar to the
period 2005 to 2010, and include important
investment to enhance the protection of
drinking water guality, mitigate the worst
impacts of sewer flooding, substantially
reduce the carbon footprint of its activities
and improve customer service. Under Welsh
Water's preferred plan the average household
bill in 2015 would be no higher in real terms
than it is today.

Diractors

The names and brief biographical details of
the Directors are given on page 28. With the
exception of Bob Ayling who was appointed
on 3 April 2008, all Directors served
throughout the financial year. No Director
has, or has had, 2 material interest, directly or
indirectly, in any contract significant to the
Company's business. The Board has not been
requested to use, and has not used,

its discretlon under Article 57 of Glas Cymru's
Articles of Association which allows the
approval of a potential conflict of interest.

At the Annual General Meeting on 10 July 2009
{'2009 AGM’} Peter Perry, James Strachan and
Geraint Talfan Davies will retire by rotation and
seek re-election as Directors in accordance
with the Articles of Asscciation. The Board has
endorsed the effectiveness and commitment
{and, where appropriate, the independence)

of these Directors and recommends each for
re-election. Further details are set out in the
Notice of 2009 AGM.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number: 3975719




Details of the remuneration of individual
Directors and of the remuneration strategy
approved by the Board are included in the
Remuneration Report for the year ended

31 March 2009 on page 38. A resolution will
be proposed at the 2009 AGM to approve
this report.

The Company has in place Directors’ and
officers’insurance giving cover against legal
action brought against the Directors and an
indemnity in circumstances where a director
has not acted fraudulently or dishonestly.

The indemnity is a qualifylng indemnity for the
purpose of the Companies Act and is for the
benefit of all Directors.

Details of our internal control and governance
arrangements are set out in the Governance
Repart on page 36,

Members

At the date of this report, Glas Cymru has

72 Members excluding the Directors of the
Company who are also Members. Further
information about the role of Members,

and the process for their appointment

under the direction of an independent
membership selection panel, can be found in
the Governance Report on page 37. Further
information on this, along with brief details of
the current Members, is available on request or
may be obtained from our website.

Employees

At 31 March 2009 Welsh Water employed 192
people (2008: 178). Other than the Directors of
the Company. Glas Cymru has no employees.

Having a highly committed and motivated
staff is crucial to achieving Glas Cymru's sole
purpose. A key part of delivering continuous
improvement in the performance of the
business and the leve! of service received

by Welsh Water's customers is an ongoing
investment in our people at all levels. We are
committed to equality of opportunity and

aim to treat all employees {including disabled
persons) fairly in every aspect of employment,
including recruitment, training, career
development and promotion. Those who seek
employment with Welsh Water are considered
solely on their skills and abilities.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number: 3975719

Further information on our strategies to
support staff is contained in the Business
Review on page 14.

Welsh Water’s employee pay and benefits
package compares favourably with the local
employment rarket and the UK Industrial and
Services market benchmarks. All staff share in
the success of the business via a staff incentive
scheme, which pays an annual bonus linked
to the relative Anancial and customer service
performance of Welsh Water, as measured

by Cfwat’s Overall Performance Assessment.
All staff received an annual total pay and
benefits statement.

Under "Working Together, the framawork
agreement with trade unions and staff
representatives that has successfully operated
since the early 19907, in April 2009 staff
received a general pay award of 3%. Given
the current economic ¢limate, however,

the Remuneration Committee and the

Board agreed that the pay of Executive and
Non-Executive Directors and certain senior
managers would be unchanged for 2009-10.

Occupational health and safety

The Board is committed to achieving high
standards of occupational health and safety.
Nothing is more impartant than the health
and safety of the people who work for us, and
those we affect through our work.

Last year we reported that Welsh Water's
process of health and safety management
had achieved accreditation to the OHSAS
18001:1999 standard. In February 2009,
Welsh Water achieved certification to the
OHSAS 18001: 2007 internatlonal standard for
occupational health and safety management
with an extended scope of service for work
relating to the 'business and administration
of strategic management of water services
provision including contract management.

In 2008-09 Welsh Water and its contract
partners maintained a trend of year on

year reduction in the number of reportable
accidents. Full details of our health and safety
performance in 2008-09 and our current
challenges and goals are described in our 2009
Health and Safety Report. A copy of this report
is avallable on request or on our webslte.

Water quality and the environment

If we are to achieve our goal for Welsh Water
to be consistently recognised by its customers
as the best water company in the UK, we must
continuously improve our water quality and
environmental performance and how we
manage the direct and indirect environmental
impacts of the business. This is essential to
the future success of the business. With this in
mind the Board has set challenging ambitions
and targets for the next 25 years and these
are set out in "Welsh Water: Our Sustainable
Future’, which is available from our website,

The Quality and Environment Committee of
the Board (QEC) meets each month to
menitor quality and environmental
performance, QEC tracks the development
of key operational strategies, as we aim

to develop a more sustainable water and
wastewater business based an developing
best practice and knowledge. GEC also reviews
the cause of and Welsh Water response to
all major water quality and environmental
incidents. A copy of the 2009 QEC Reportis
available on our website.
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Directors’report

Research and development

Welsh Water monitors and selectively
participates in water industry research
initiatives, most notably through membership
of UK Water Industry Research Limited,
which manages and coordinates the
research interests of UK water companies.
Where appropriate, we also sponsor

private companies and university research
departments to undertake relevant
investigations into issues that relate to

our business objectives and priorities for
the operational region. The findings from

all research initiatives are disseminated
through Welsh Water and its outsourced
contract partners under a reciprocal sharing
arrangement.

Payment policy

Qur policyis to agree payment terms at the
start of a relationship with a supplier, which
will only be changed by agreement. Payment
will be made in accordance with agreed terms,
save where we advise suppliers when an
invoice is contested, which we will do without
unreasonable delay. We will seek to remedy
disputes as promptly as possible. Standard
payment terms will be 30 days from date of
receipt of a correct invoice for satisfactory
goods or services which have been ordered
or received, unless other terms are agreed in a
contract,

In 2008-09, the average payment period

for the Gias Cymru group was 49 days

(2008: 53 days). Regulations require that

in calculating this we include within trade
creditors monies retained under contract in
respect of Welsh Water capital investment
projects. The level of retentions varies from
year to year and affects the average payment
period for the year.

Corporate social responsibility

We have a clear and firm commitment to
environmental responsibility and in being

a good neighbour and trusted partnerin

the communities we serve. To earn this trust
we have to show that we behave fairly and
responsibly in the interests of customers, that
we use resources wisely, and that we make an
appropriate contribution te community.
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This approach to ‘responsible business’is an
essential part of our not for profit business
model and further information is provided on
page 16 of this report,

During the year, charitable donations
amounted to £44,212 (2008: £18,559). There
were 8 beneficiaries of awards of above £500
ranging from £750 to £11,500.

It is Board policy not to make donations

to political parties or to incur political
expenditure, and during 2008-09 no donations
or payments have been made which are
required to be disclosed under section 366 of
the Companies Act 2006.

Welsh language scheme

We welcome dealing with customers and other
stakeholders in Welsh or English and aim to
provide an equally effective standard of service
in both languages. Qur Welsh Language
Scheme is an approved scheme under the
provisions of the Wales Language Act 1993,

Regulatory accounts {Welsh Water}

Condition F of the Instrument of Appointment
under which Welsh Water operates requires
that Welsh Water publish additional financial
information as an ‘appointed business’ A copy
of this information is published on our website
or is available on request from the Company
Secretary.

Going concern

The Directors are satisfied that the business
has adequate resources to continue

in business for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2009 have been prepared
on a going concern basis.

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC} acted as
the auditors to Glas Cymru for the accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2009. As part of
the audit process Directors have confirmed
that as far as each Director is aware (a) there

is no relevant audit information of which the
Company’s auditors are unaware and (b) they
have taken steps to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company’s auditors are aware of that
information.

A resolution to re-appoint PwC will be put to
Mermbers at the 2009 AGM.

Events after the financial year-end
There have been nc post balance sheet events.

Annual general meeting

The 2009 AGM will be held on Friday

10 July 2009. The business of the 2009

AGM includes the approval of the Directors’
Report and Financial Statements and the
Remuneration Report for the year ended

31 March 2009, the re-election of 3 Directors,
a resolution to authorise the Company to
make donations to EU political organisations
and/or incur EU political expenditure up to
defined limits and a resolution to reappoint
the auditors. These resolutions are matters

of ordinary business for the 2009 AGM. In
addition there will be a resolution to amend
certain provisions in the Articles of Association
of the Company. Further information in respect
of all resolutions is provided in the Notice of
2009 AGM sent to the Members of Glas Cymru
with this report.

By order of the Board

Eﬁ.&dx \

Richard Curtis LLB, ACIS
Company Secretary
5 June 2009

Altdocuments which are stated as available on
the Company’s website can be obtained from:
www.dwrcynru.com




Corporate governance

Glas Cymru is committed to high standards of
corporate governance, This is critical if we are
to be regarded as a well-managed provider
of an essential public service in the eyes of
Welsh Water’s customers and regulators,
bondholders and other stakeholders.

This report explains the key features of the
Company’s governance structure and how

it complies with the Combined Code on
Corparate Governance 2008 (the Combined
Code), which sets the standard for good
practice for UK listed companies. Not all of the
pravisions of the Combined Code apply to Glas
Cymru as a company limited by guarantee,
however, the Company complies with all
applicable provisions of the Combined Code,
save in respect of the appointment of a
Senior Independent Director which is

referred ta on page 37.

The Board

The Board comprises 10 Directors: a Chairman,
3 Executive Directors and & Non-Executive
Directors. Directors collectively provide a broad
base of experience and expertise appropriate
to oversee the business and to maximise

the effectiveness of the Board, ensuring that

ail matters are fully debated and that no
individual or group dominates the Board's
decision making process. No Non-Executive
Director has any business or other relationship
that could materially interfere with the exercise
of their judgement, and the Board considers
each of the Non-Executive Directors to be
independent of the Company and each other.

The roles of the Chairman and Managing
Director are separate and clearly defined.

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring the
effective operation of the Board and that the
information it receives is sufficient to make
informed judgements, and for ensuring that
constructive relationships are maintained

with key stakeholders. As part of its regular
evaluation, the Board considers the Chairman's
availability and capacity to undertake the

role against the background of his other
commitments. The Board remains satisfied that
the Chairman fulfils his role effectively and has
the capacity to be available when unforeseen
circurnstances arise.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number: 3975719

The Managing Director is responsible for the
day-to-day management of the business and
for the implementation of the strategy, policies
and procedures adopted by the Board. The
Managing Director is supported by 2 Executive
Directors and by an executive team comprising
heads of specialist functions.

The Non-Executive Directors have access to

all information relating to the business; the
advice and services of the Company Secretary
and, as required, independent external advice
at the expense of the Company. The Company
Secretary Is an employee, but not a Director,
of the Company.

Each of the Executive Directors has a written
service contract subject to termination by the
Company on 12 months notice, The Chairman
and each of the Non-Executive Directors have
a written letter of appointment subject to
termination by the Board on 3 months notice.
A copy of each of these agreements is available
for inspection at the Company's registered
office and at the annual general meeting.

Any new Director must stand for election at
the first annual general meeting following
his ar her appaintment, and each Director is

subject to re-appointment by the Members
of Glas Cymru at intervals of not more than
3 years. The Directors standing for re-
appointment at the 2009 AGM are named
on page 30 of this report.

Board proceedings

The Board met 9 times in 2008-09, including

2 two day meetings, to cotlectively set

the strategic direction of the business

and to review the operating and financial
performance and risk management of the
business. There is a formal schedule of matters
reserved to the Board, which is reviewed
annually and which can only be amended by
the Board. This includes approval of the annual
business plan (which sets the operating and
strategic objectives for the business, and the
risk framework within which the business

will operate), corporate policies, significant
transactions above specified thresholds

or outside the ordinary course of business

and the delegation of Board autharity to
committees and Executive Directors.

The table below sumimarises the number
of Board and committee meetings held in
2008-09 and the level of attendance at each.

Board  Nominations(N) Audit(A) QEC{Q) Remuneration(R}
Number of meetings held in 2008-09 9 4 12 4
LordsumslN; bt il A 9' S e
Nigel Annett{a ™ 9 1 12
Chils Jones 9 oo
Peter Perry™@ Ty T T e T
Jor;néry;nt_l;. G 1 - e -
.G:r;.i'nt Talfan DaviesiA R M N 9 i 4 4_‘
Dame Deirdre Hing IR ™ 9 1 1" 4
"TBEy Hobson AR N 8 1 4" 4
J_a_;es StrachanAR.N 8 1 4 4
Bob AylingRa™
ppanted ouoi2) 8 1 9 4

*Denotes committee Chairman.
QEC: Quality and Environment Committee.
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Corporate governance

it is the role of the Chairman, 2ided by the
Company Secretary, Lo ensure that the Board,
its committees and individual Directors receive
timely and clear information In respect of

the Company's strategy and performance

to support meaningful debate and effective
decision making. The Company Secretary also
advises the Board on corporate governance.
To support the independence of Non-
Executive Directors, and to enable them to
discuss more freely the performance of the
executive management team, there is regular
oppaortunity for the Chairman and the Non-
Executive Directors to meet privately,

New Directors: Induction and training
Appointments to the Board are made following
recommendation from the Nominations
Committee. Each new Director receives an
induction programme to familiarise him or
her with the business, the risks and strategic
challenges, and the economic, competitive,
legal and regulatory environment in which it
operates. Introductory visits are arranged to
company sites and to key suppliers (contract
partners) and other stakeholders.

A programme also exists to ensure that all
Directors have the opportunity to continually
update their skills and business knowledge.
This can take the form of visits to strategic
operational assets or meetings with
stakehalders, by the provision of information
and presentations 1o the Board on key
strategic issues, and by a Director’s occasional
attendance on an external course.

Evaluation of the Board

Directors participate in an annual evaluation
process to assess the effectiveness of the
collective performance of the Board,

the performance of the Chairman and of
the principal committees of the Board.

The conduct of this process is overseen by
the Chairman and comprises questionnaires
completed by Directors, the conclusions

of which are collated and analysed by the
Company Secretary and collectively discussed
at the Board. This is supplemented, as
appropriate, by one to one discussions with
each Director by the Chairman, following
which actions are agreed to address issues
ralsed.
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Following review in previous years a private
website was established for the dissemination
of information to Directors and for holding
board papers and other reference material,
more informal dinners have been held to
allow discussion of strategic issues outside
of the farmal boardroom environment; and
additional Board meetings held over two
days were scheduled, to enable Directors

to meet and build relationships with key
senior managers and staff below Board level,
The most recent evaluation in March 2009
raised no material weaknesses or failings,
but highlighted certain minor aspects

for consideration to further improve the
effectiveness of the Board,

The Board, without the Chairman present,
reviews and evaluates the performance of

the Chairman. The Chairman assesses the
performance of the Managing Director

after taking into account the views of other
Directors. The perfarmance of Executive
Directors and Company Secretary is assessed
by the Managing Director, under a process of
annual appraisal that applies to all employees.

Committees of the Board

There are 4 principal committees of the Board.
Each has a written term of reference that
defines the role and responsibilities of the
committee and which is reviewed annually.
These are the Nominations Committee, the
Audit Committee, the Quality and Environment

Committee, and the Remuneration Committee.

The Board also has an ad-hoc Finance
Committee to approve financing and treasury
transactions where a decision is required
between formal meetings of the Board.

The membership of each committee is
intended to make best use of the independent
challenge and skills and experience of the
Non-Executive Directors. After each committee
meeting a summary of matters discussed

is reported to the Board, and the Board
subsequently receives the formal minutes.
Each committee has authority to employ the
services of such advisors, within and outside
the Company, as it deems necessary to fulfil

its responsibilities.

Details of the work and membership of

the Nominations Committee, the Audit
Committee, and the Quality and Environment
Committee is set out below, The work of

the Remuneration Committee is described

in the 2009 Remuneration Report on page

38. In addition to contributing to the formal
committees of the Board, certain Directors
have been allocated 'special responsibilities’
covering important areas such as procurement
{John Bryant), communications (Geraint Talfan
Davies), legal {Bob Ayling) and government
and regulation {Lord Burns).

Nominations Committee

The Nominations Committee meets on

an ad hoc basis, It is chaired by the Chairman
of the Board and comprises all of the Non-
Executive Directors and the Managing Director.
Other Executive Directors attend meetings at
the invitation of the Chairman.

It is the responsibility of the Nominations
Committee to ensure that plans are in place
for orderly succession for appointment to the
Board. Its role is therefore to review the size,
structure and composition of the Board {ie.
the skills, knowledge and experience around
the Board table) and, where appropriate,

to recommend candidates for Board
appointment, In planning for Board succession,
in 2008-09 the Nomination Committee has
been advised by Russell Reynolds & Associates,

The Combined Code requires that the majority
of Directors shall be independent of the
company {i.e. that they are individuals who
the Board determines to be iIndependent

in character and judgement and who have

no relationships or circumstances which are
likely to affect, or could appear to affect, the
Director’s judgement). The Board of Glas Cymru
meets this requirement and would, if called on,
provide a statement of reasons to support its
view that any named Director is independent.
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Glas Cymru was established in 2000 and 4

of the Non-Executive Directors who were
appointed within a short time of each other
in 2000-01 will have served as Directors for
nine years by May 2010. Last year we reported
that the Nominations Committee and the
Board have agreed in principle that, in these
circumstances, it would be in the best interests
of the Company (and of the customers of
Welsh Water) to consider extending the

term of office of some of the Non-Executive
Directors beyond nine years. This would allow

greater continuity on the Board as Welsh Water

moves Into the next regulatory investment
period (AMPS: 2010-2015) and in the first
review of contract pricing under Welsh Water's
outsourced procurement arrangements.

The volatility in the UK's economic climate in

the past year has provided additional reason to
consider extending the continuity of the Board.

No decision has been made on this to date,
but as required by the Combined Code any
Non-Executive Director whose appointment
was extended beyond 9 years would become
subject to annual re-appointment by the
Members of Glas Cymru. The Chairman of the
Board would ensure that any Non-Executive
Director to be appointed beyond 9 yearsis
independent in character and judgement.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee are
independent Non-Executive Directors: Tony
Hobson (Chairman), Geraint Talfan Davies
and James Strachan. By invitation of the
Chairman, meetings of the committee are
attended by the Finance Director, Head of
Business Assurance, Internal and External
Auditors and selected other senjor managers.
The Company Secretary acts as secretary to
the Committee. The Board considers that Tony
Hobson, a Chartered Accountant and former
Group Finance Director of Legal & General
Group plc, has the significant and relevant

financial experience required to chair the Audit

Committee,

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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The role of the Commttee is to receive and

challenge reports from executive management

and, as appropriate, from internal and external
auditors, and in particular:
» to review and advise the Board on
Glas Cymru’s interim and annual financial
statements, its accounting policies and on

the control of its financial and business risks;

to review the nature and scope of the work
to be performed by the external auditors
and outsourced internal audit function,
the results of thelr audit work and of the
response of management;

to review and advise the Board on the
effectiveness of the internal control

)
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environment in the business, including
the ‘Whistleblowing’ procedures;

» to make recommendations on the

=

appointment and remuneration of
external auditors and te monitor their
performance; and

to approve and moniter the policy for
non-audit services provided by the external

b
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auditors to ensure that the independence of

the auditors Is not compromised.

The Audit Committee meets on at least 4
occasions each year. 2 of the meetings focus
on review of the annuat and interim reports
and associated preliminary and interim
results announcements, and related areas of

judgement and significant accounting policies.

Time is allocated at other meetings to review
the findings of the external and internal audit
programme and to assess the processes for
the management and control of Anancial

and business risks, including challenge to the
Executive Director’s assessment of those risks
and their mitigation strategies and action

plans to manage those risks. Significant reports

and issues arising from Welsh Water’s risk
based audit programme are discussed at every
meeting of the Committee.

During the year, the Audit Committee approved
external and internal audit plans, and met
privately with the internal and external auditors
without executives present as part of its annual
review of audit independence. On the basis of
this work, and regular meetings with executive
management, the Audit Committee is able to
assess the ongeing effectiveness of internal and
externa! audit.

The role of internal audit is to provide
independent and objective assurance and to
advise management and the Board on the
extent to which systems of internal control
are effective and that the processes by which
significant risks are identified assessed and
managed are appropriate and effectively
applied. The internal audit work plan (which
covers the scope, authority and resources

of such activity) is determined through a
structured process of risk assessment to
ensure that it is focused on areas of greatest
risk to the business, and is approved by the
Audit Committee.

Curing 2008-09, external auditor services were
provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
and the conduct, but not the management,
of internal audit activity was outsourced to
Grant Thornton UK LLP. The Company also
significantly increased the resourcing of its
internal Business Assurance team, which
since 1 April 2009 has taken over delivery of
the internal audit work plan following the
surrender of the internal audit contract by
Grant Thornton,
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the
policies of the external auditor to ensure their
independence and that of their engagement
partner and that Board policy on non-audit
fees has been met, This provides that the
external auditor will not be used for internal
audit services, and that alt non-audit work
above a threshold of £25,000 will be subject
to prior competitive tendering and approval
by the Audit Committee. Total external auditor
remuneration is analysed between audit and
nen-audit work in Note 4 to the Accounts on
page 58,

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
include all matters required by the Combined
Code, The Committee has unrestricted access
to Company documents and staff and to
external auditors, and the Finance Director
and Head of Business Assurance and external
auditors each have a right of direct access

to the Chairman of the Audit Committee in
respect of matters they wish to bring to his
attention,

Quality and Environment Committee (QEC)
QEC meets each month and comprises 3
Non-Executive Director members {Dame
Deirdre Hine, Chairman, John Bryant and

Bob Ayting) and 2 Executive Director members
{Nigel Annett and Peter Perry). QEC is advised
by 2 independent experts on the public health
and operational aspects of water supply and
environmental management, and by Welsh
Water's Head of Water Quality and Head of
Operational Perfaormance and Customer
Service who, with the Company Secretary,
attend all meetings.

QEC was established in 2001 to play a centra!
role in the governance of Welsh Water,
recognising that a major element of Glas
Cymru’s business model is its out sourcing
strategy, under which some 85% of Welsh
Water's operating and capital expenditure

is incurred by third party partners through
competitively let contracts.

£

The role of QEC is to oversee Welsh Water
performance, which targets ‘top quartile’
overall performance on key regulatory
measures for water quality, customer

service and efficiency and environmental
performance, while delivering the best
available combination of cost efficiency, value
for money and quality of service. Through its
oversight QEC provides assurance to the Board
that Welsh Water’s obligations as a water and
sewerage undertaker are not compromised or
put at risk by its outsourcing strategy.

In particular, QEC:

» advises the Board on matters of operational
policy and practice, and routinely reviews
the performance of Welsh Water against

key performance indicators, in relation

to matters of public health, compliance
with drinking water regulaticns and
environmental laws and regulations and
occupational health and safety;

reviews the development of key operational

¥

strategies, as Welsh Water aims to develop
mare sustainable water and wastewater
businesses based on industry best practice
and knowledge;

>
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reviews executive management’s
assessment of operational and quality
risk; and

» assesses Welsh Water's management of

=

and response to significant water quality or
environmental incidents, and any weakness
identified under the interna! audit quality
programme of work.

QEC produces an annual report to the Board,
which is published on our website,

Internal control and risk management

The Board has overall responsibility for
ensuring that the business maintains

asound system of internal control and

risk management and for monitoring its
effectiveness, The system is designed to
manage risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. It comprises audited policies,
procedures and processes designed to identify,
evaluate and manage the significant risks
faced by the business, and provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or
loss. In assessing what constitutes reasonable
assurance, the Board has regard to materiality
and 10 the relationship between the cost of,
and the benefit from, particular risk issues.

No system can eliminate risk entirely.

Key features of the system are:

» the Board sets parameters of acceptable
risk and key risks and hazards are
identified, measured and managed to
an acceptable level;

» clear accountability for risk management is
embedded in the business, and supported
by regular risk reporting;

» contrals that recognise that the nature
and balance of risk changes and evolves
continuously and provide a framework
within which to manage this;

» assurance is provided by independent
audit and assessment of internal quality
management systems. All audit activity
is conducted under a broad risk based
programme appraved by the Audit
Committee and QEC, designed to ensure
that management information is accurate,
timely and relevant and reflects the true
position of the business;

» procedures exist for the approval
and control of major items of capital
expenditure, the acquisition and disposal of
material assets, or the entering into of any
arrangement that gives rise to, or could give
rise to, a material liability.
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» managing risk is a responsibility for all
managers in the business. For each major
type of risk, there is a designated individual
or team to ensure that appropriate guidance
is available for managers across the business;
and

the system of internal control is reviewed

by Welsh Water's Reporter who submits an
annual report to the Board and to Ofwat to
confirm compliance with Ofwat’s quidance
for the UK water industry on internal control,

3
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Business risk is routinely reassessed through

a risk management group, chaired by the
Managing Director. This group reviews and
challenges the robustness of risk management
procedures, including that of Welsh Water's
contract partners, and includes areas such as
public health, environment, business ethics,
employment, occupational health and safety
and business continuity. The risk management
group encourages staff to participate in two
way dialogue to ensure that risk is understood
and managed early and effectively, and to learn
from our own experience and the experience
of others to promote best practice. The Audit
Committee and QEC receive an update on our
principal risks and process of risk management
every 6 months, and this is reviewed annually
at the Board.

In judging the effectiveness of the business’s
system of internal controls, the Board
considers periodic reporting from the risk
management group, the Audit Committee and
QEC. The Board also routinely monitors key
performance indicators and monthly reports
of financial and operational performance,
which flag variances against the agreed
business plan and budget. By so doing, the
Board reviews the effectiveness of the internal
control system over the course of the year.

Members of Glas Cymru

A key role of the Members is to ensure

that the business remains focused on its
primary purpose of providing efficient

high quality water and sewerage services

to the communities served by Welsh Water.

in doing this, Members carry out an important
corporate governance role - and for this reason
membership is personal. Members are not
appointed to represent any particular group or
stakeholder interest.

The Board appoints the Members, but only
individuals recommended by an independent
membership selection panel (the ‘panel) can
be considered for appointment. The role of
the panel is to recommend individuals who in
a written application have shown they have
the skills, experience and interests to be an
effective Member. In addition, the panelis
required to ensure that overall a balanced and
diverse membership is maintained, which is, as
far as possible, broadly reflective of the range
of customer and other stakeholder interests
served by Welsh Water. The Chairman of the
panel has confirmed to the Board compliance
by Glas Cymru with the terms of its published
Membership Policy.

At the date of this report, Glas Cymru has

72 Members, excluding the Directors of

the Company. Subsequent to the financial
year end, and following evaluation and
recommendation by the panel, the Board has
approved the reappointment of 15 Members
whose term of office would otherwise expire
at the end of the 2009 AGM. 1 member elected
not to seek re-appointment.

Further details of the Membership Policy and
the Members of Glas Cymru can be obtained
from the Company Secretary or from our
website.

Communication with stakeholders

The Board attaches high importance to
maintaining good relationships with Members
and investors. The Members of Glas Cymru
have regular opportunity to meet with
Directors at the 2 Members’ Meetings held
each year. At these meetings, Directors,
including the chairmen of the key Board
committees, are available to answer questions.
All Members, including those unable to attend
any meeting, receive a written brief of issues
discussed at each meeting.

For investors, Glas Cymru hosts an annual
event in London, and immediately following
the announcement of interim and preliminary
results for any period there are informal
meetings with major bondholders and other
investors, who may also request a meeting
with an independent Non-Executive Director
at any time. The Board receives a report
following meetings with investors, Regular
communication is also maintained with each
of the economic, quality and customer service
regulators of Welsh Water. As a result of the
above, the Board has concluded that the
nomination of a Senior Independent Director
would not improve governance and has not
appointed one.

By order of the Board

Richard Curtis LL8, ACIS

Company Secretary
5 June 2009

All documents which are stated as available on

the Company’s website can be obtained from:
www.dwrcymreu.com
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Compliance

This report has been prepared in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985
and, in line with the Board's commitment that
Glas Cymruy shall report as if it were a listed
company, in accordance with the Directors’
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002. The
report has been approved by the Board and
will be put to Members for approval at the
2009 Annual General Meeting {2009 AGM).

The Directors’emoluments table, long-term
performance related bonus table and pension
table on pages 41 and 42 have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. The remainder
of the report has been reviewed by them.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’)
is chaired by John Bryant and comprises all the
Non-Executive Directors. A copy of the terms of
reference of the Committee is available on the
Company’s website, The Chairman of the Board
and the Managing Director, attend meetings of
the Committee only by invitation. The Company
Secretary acts as secretary ta the Committee.
The Committee met on 4 occasions in 2008-09.

The role of the Committee is to approve,
implement and keep under review the
remuneraticn policy and practice and
specifically:

» to agree with the Board the policy and
framework for the remuneration of the
Chairman, Non-Executive Directors and
Executive Directors and senior managers;
to agree the terms of service contracts and

¥

remuneration for Executive Directors and
senior managers, and

to determine incentive arrangements that
encourage and recognise good performance
and reward individuals in a fair and
responsible manner for their contribution

to the success of the Company.

p
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The Committee has sought independent
external advice on certain aspects of
remuneration policy and best practice.

38

The firms named below advised the
Committee in 2008-09, and have been
reappointed to advise the Committee

in 2009-10;

» Hewitt New Bridge Street, who advise

on market best practice in the design of
incentive performance arrangements, the
benchmarking of Directors’ remuneration
and fees and senior management service
contracts and remuneration and in relation
o pension matters, and

Linklaters & Alliance, who provide legal
advice to the Committee on Directors’
service contracts and pension matters,

b
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In 2008-09 the Committee also received
pensions information and advice from
Quantum Actuarial LLP.

In the view of the Committee, there were

no conflicts of interest in relation to these
organisations advising both the Committee
and the Company in the implementation of its
decisions.

Remuneration Policy
The Committee considers the principles
and provisions of the Combined Code when

setting policy and believes it is fulty compliant.

The Commiittee also has regard to pay awards
to other employees and to broader social,
environmental and governance issues when
setting remuneration terms,

The aim of the remuneration policy is to
ensure that, in a competitive market place,
the business is well managed by high calibre
executives who are incentivised to produce
sector-leading performance for the benefit of
Welsh Water’s customers, investors and other
key stakeholders, The policy is designed to
align as closely as practicable the interests of
the individual with the longer-term interests
of the business and, especially, the interests
of the customers of Welsh Water. Accordingly,
a relatively high proportion of Executive
Directors’ remuneration is dependent on
Welsh Water's perfarmance in terms of water
quality, protecting the environment and
customer service.

The executive remuneration package
comprises 4 elements: base salary and
benefits; an annual performance related
banus; a longer term performance related
incentive; and a pension,

The general remuneration policy applies to
the senior management team, as well as to
Executive Directors, and has been founded on
the following principles:

» the Remuneration Policy shall reflect the
stated intention of the Board that Welsh
Water should be one of the consistently best
performing water companies in the sector;
water and environmental quality, customer
service and financial performance are the
key criteria by which the success of the
business is judged and shall therefore be key

¥,
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determinants of performance related pay;

» remuneration shall be fair and competitive

£

when compared to the relevant market and
the organisation generally;
a significant proportion of the Directors’

™
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remuneration should be variable and
dependent on the achievement of stretching
performance targets;
» an appropriate combination of fixed and
variable pay will ensure that the interests of
management are suitably aligned with the
longer term objectives of Glas Cymru and the
customers of Welsh Water; and
there will be a claw back of variable rewards

£

{including long term Incentives) where
those rewards were made on the basis of
performance which subsequently proved to
be misstated.

When setting remuneration, the Remuneration
Committee considers remuneration in the UK
water companies (both gquoted and unquoted)
taking into account, amongst others, turnaver
and business complexity (e.g. requlatory versus
nan regulatory business and international
exposure) of the comparator companies. In
addition, reference is made to remuneration
practice in the FTSE 250.

The Committee has reviewed the
appropriateness of this comparator group
and agreed it remained refevant for setting
remuneration in 2009-10.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number: 3975719




Bonus Policy: Annual Performance

Related Bonus

In 2007-08 the Committee reviewed the
Incentive arrangements to ensure that they
supported the above principles, but found
that the quantum of maximum potential
remuneration available for the Executive
Directors had fallen behind relevant market
benchmarks. To address this, and taking into
account practice in the listed water companies
and other water companies of comparable size,
the Committee increased the annual bonus
potential for Executive Directors for 2008-09 to
100% of salary, with receipt of the additional
bonus of 20% dependent on delivery against
specific operational measures determined

by the Committee an an annual basis. The
Committee agreed these additional measures
would be structured as absolute measures and
as such dependent on improved performance
by Welsh Water, and not simply good relative
performance.

The change addressed 2 issues: improving

the market positioning of the current
remuneration arrangements; and supporting
the principle that Welsh Water delivers
consistently strong operational performance.
To earn the maximum bonus, Executive
Directors would need to show evidence of
significant improvement in performance in
each of the selected operational measures,
with no element of this additional bonus being
payable if performance against each respective
measure failed to show progress.

To achieve maximum additional benus in

any year, performance against the selected
operational measures would need 1o match
the best achieved by a company in the

sector. The Committee has agreed that the
maximum annual bonus for 2009-10 should be
maintained at 100%.

For 2008-09, the maximum annual cash

bonus payable was 100 percentage points

of base salary {PPBS"), with payment of

the maximum bonus divided across three
components: customer service performance
{40 PBBS), financiat performance {40 PPBS) and
performance against four specific operational
measures (20 PPBS, 5 PPBS per measure).

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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Target bonus for 2008-09 for the customer
service and financial performance elements of
this bonus was set at the same as in 2007-08,
i.e, 50 PPBS. The Committee has agreed that
this allocation of bonus remains appropriate
and that it will be applied in the financial year
2009-10.

The custermner service component is
determined with reference to the ‘Qverall
Performance Assessment’ {OPA’) published
by Ofwat, and can earn up to 40 PPBS for
achieving 1st position in the OPA ranking of
the ten water and sewerage companies of
England and Wales {'OPA League Table').

8 PPBS (20% of the maximum for this
element) will be payable for achieving median
performance, being the average score of the
5th and 6th ranked companies, with ranking
above this {but not below) rewarded on a
linear scale.

The OPA includes non-financial performance

measures for:

» water supply: including drinking water
quality compliance, interruptions to supply
and restrictions an supply;

» sewerage measures: including sewage
flooding incidents and a quality of effluent
discharges to the environment that meets
legal and regulatory standards; and

» customer service performance: including
speed of response to telephone and written
billing enquiries and handling of written
complaints,

At the discretion of the Committee, this
bonus entitlement may be adjusted up or
down by up to 10 PPBS to reflect identifiable
and significant aspects of customer service
performance not captured by OPA. The
Committee did not adjust bonus paid in
respect of the financial year 2007-08, which
was paid in November 2008.

The financial component of the annual
performance related bonus is based on net
cash flow {(before capital expenditure but after
net interest payable) and can earn up to 40
PPBS.

Performance will be rewarded on a linear
scale from zero for meeting the annual

cash flows in the regulatory settlement for
2005-10 announced by Ofwat in December
2004 (the ‘Final Determination’), 25 PPBS
(62.5% of maximum for this element) and 40
PPBS for reaching the respective target and
maximum levels approved by the Committee.
To achieve target level bonus accordingly
requires that Welsh Water outperform the Final
Determination, which is a key requirement

if the business is to achieve the challenging
objectives set by the Board.

The measures setected by the Committee to
comprise the ‘operational measures’ component
of the annual performance related bonus far
2008-09 are set out below. The Committee

set challenging targets to be met to earn this
element of bonus with no bonus being payable
for performance at or below performance in
2007-08 and {except for measure (3} below) and
to earn maximum bonus would have required
performance equal to or better than the best
ever performance in the sector.

(a) Avoidable customer complaints, being
complaints that relate to a service failure
by Welsh Water, which shall not include
complaints as regards matters of Board
policy or activity relating to the collection
of customer charges. To receive maximum
bonus against this measure, in 2008-09 the
number of avoidable complaints would
have needed to reduce by more than 50%.
Sewer flooding attributed to ‘'other causes’

-

(b
- i.e. other than due to hydraulic overload
of the sewer network,

{c) Category 3 pollution incidents. Any
environmental damage caused by Welsh
Water’s operations is a concern and each
of these less significant pollution events
is investigated as 'near-hit’ for a more
significant pollution event to ensure that
lessons are learned.,

d

The Operational Performance Index (‘'OPI’),
which is a Drinking Water Inspectorate
performance index used by Ofwat as a key
measure to assess overall drinking water
quality.

a9
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The 2008-09 Accounts include an accrual of
£333,960 {(equivalent to 50.6 PPBS) reflecting
the Committee’s current estimate of Welsh
Water's relative performance for the year
ended 31 March 2009. The Committee will
make its final assessment of bonus payable
for 2008-09 in the Autumn 2009, following
publication by Ofwat of its annual Levels of
Service Report.

Performance delivered in 2008-09 earned
Executive Directors 4PPBS of the maximum
20PPBS, 2PPBS in category (a) and 2PPBS
in category {d). This reflects the fact that
the target levels set by the Committee,

if achieved, would have delivered sector
leading performance,

The Committee has agreed that the
operational measures applied in 2008-09
remain valid for 2009-10 and that the targets
applied in 2008-09 will be carrled forward.

Bonus Policy: Rolling Long Term

Incentive Scheme ('RLTIS)

The RLTIS is a longer-term incentive scheme
introduced on 1 April 2005 on the basls of
arolling three-year period (except during
the first 2 years), which while capable of
revision at any time was intended to operate
for a 5 year period ending on 31 March
2010. The maximum bonus payable under
RLTIS is 60 PPBS, with 30 PPBS (50% of the
maximum) being payable for reaching ‘target’
performance. Maximum bonus is divided
equally between customer service and
financiat performance components.

Payments under RLTIS will normally be made
within 9 months of the end of the final year

to which they relate, but payment may be
deferred at the discretion of the Committee

in the event that there is a significant
deterioration in performance. Deferral may be
for up to 2 years, or until the shortfall has been
remedied, whichever is the earlier. In addition,
payment of up to 20 PPBS will be deferred in
the event that the underlying rating of any of
the Company’s bonds have been put on ‘credit
watch’ by any of the Rating Agencles, either
until taken off ‘credit watch’or until they have
been downgraded, in which case the 20 PPBS
shall be forfeited.

40

The customer service component will be
determined with reference to Welsh Water's
position in an adjusted OPA League Table,
compiled by aggregating OPA scores for each
of the last 3 years up to and including the
relevant year of assessment. Bonus will be
payable an a sliding scale of 100% {30 PPBS)
for achieving 15t position, 75% for 2nd, 50% for
3rd, 25% for 4th and zero for being ranked Sth
or below of the 10 comparator companies.

The financial performance component will

be based on ‘Financial Reserves’ {Regulatory
Capital Value less net debt} at the end of the
retevant year, as defined for the purposes

of the quarterly investor Report routinely
published by the Company. Growth In
Financial Reserves is considered the best
financial measure of customers’interest in

the business, as it is from Financial Reserves
that the‘customer dividend'and additional
investment to deliver service improvements
will be funded. Growth in Financia! Reserves
captures the dynamics on which the objectives
of Glas Cymru were founded and aligns the
financial interests of Executive Directorsin a
direct and simple way with those of customers.

The Committee will normally confirm target
ranges 3 years in advance, save where a shorter
period is necessary to reflect the timing of
Ofwat's requlatory price reviews. However,
these ranges will be subject to revision by the
Committee each year in certain circumstances.
These include: {3} where there are differences
between actual inflation and the assumptions
origtnally made; (b) where the Board changes
the ‘customer dividend'’ after the criginal
forecast was made; and {¢) where there is

any other material Influence on Financial
Reserves not originally foreseen and which

the Committee determines to be outside the
control of Executive Directors. Payment of
bonus will be measured by reference to a lower
limit, the Final Determination, at which no
bonus will be earned, a target level at which
50% of maximum will be earned and an upper
limit, set by the Committee, at which maximum
bonus will be earned. Again, to achieve

target level bonus requires that Welsh Water
outperforms the Final Determination.

The Committee may at its discretion adjust
any bonus calculation up or dewn to reflect
events or factors that are not captured by
the bonus formulae described above,
providing that justification for any such
adjustment is disclosed in the next annual
remuneration report.

The 2008-09 Financial Statements include an
accrual of £211,200 (equivalent to 32.0 PPBS)
reflecting the Committee’s current estimate
of Welsh Water's relative performance for the
three-year period ended 31 March 2009.

The Committee will make its final assessment
of bonus payable under the RLTIS for 2008-09
in the Autumn 2009 following publication

by Ofwat of its Levels of Service Report for
the year.

The Committee, advised by Hewitt New Bridge
Street, has commenced discussion regarding
the shape and components of a long term
incentive scheme that would be appropriate
for the next 5 year pericd (2010-15), and an
update on the Committee’s view on this will
be presented to the Members of Glas Cymru
at the 2009 AGM. Proposals for a long term
incentive scheme for the pericd commencing
on 1 April 2010 will be submitted for approval
atthe 2010 AGM.

Remuneration: Chairman and
Non-Executive Directors

Responsibility for determining the fees

of the Chairman of the Board and of the
Non-Executive Directors sits with the
Committee and with the Board respectively.
Thesa fees are reviewed annually. In the
current economic climate it was agreed, that
there would be no change in the fees of the
Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors in
2009-10, but that a 2 year benchmark review
would be undertaken in February 2010,
which would inform the review of fees for the
following financial year in March 2010.

The fees payable for the financial year 2009-10
are: Chairman £180,000 {2008: £180,000)
Non-Executive Directors £52,500 {2008: £52,500),
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No additional amount is payable to the
Chairman or any Nan-Executive Director for
the chairmanship of, or membership of, Board
Committeas or for the undertaking of any
special responsibilities. The Chairman and the
Non-Executive Directors are appointed under
letters of appointment, terminable by either
party on 3 months’ written notice,

Remuneration: Executive Directors

Salary

Consistent with the decision of the
Committee in respect of the Chairman’s fees,
the Committee agreed that there would be
no change in the safaries of the Executive
Directors for 2009-10, but that a 2 year
benchmark review would be undertaken

in February 2010 which would inform the
review of remuneration for the following
financial year.

At 1 April 2009 the base salaries of the
Executive Directars were as below:

Nigel Annett {(Managing Director}
£260,000 (2008 £260,000)

Chris Jones (Finance Director}
£205,000 (2008: £205,000}

Peter Perry {Operations Director)
£195,000 (2008: £195,000)

Annual performance related bonus

tn Autumn 2008 Executive Directors received
an annual incentive bonus for the year ended
31 March 2008 equivalent to 54.6PPBS, of
which 14.6PPBS related to performance against
customer service targets and 40.0PPBS to
meeting financial targets. This compared to an
accrual in the 2007-08 Accounts of 51.6PPAS.
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Rolling Long Term Incentive Scheme

{n Autumn 2008 Executive Directors received
payment under the RLTIS in respect of the
period ended 31 March 2008 equlvalent

to 30.7PPBS, of which 7.5PPBS related to
performance against customer service targets
and 23.2PPBS to meeting financial targets,
This compared to an accrual in the 2007-08
Accounts of 30.4PPBS.

Penslons

The Executive Directors are all members of
the Welsh Water Pension Scheme, a defined
benefit scheme. Their normal retirement age
under this scherne Is 60 and benefits accrue
at 1/45th of salary per year of pensionable
service, subject to a maximum overall pension
at normat retirement age of two-thirds of final
pensionable salary. The scheme also provides
life cover of 4 times pensionable pay for death
in service, a pension payable in the event of
ill health and a spouse’s pension payable on
death. Executive Directors are also entitled

to participate in a private health and medical
insurance scheme.

Directors' Emoluments (excluding

pension benefits and long term
performance related bonus)

The table on page 42 reports emoluments in
respect of the vear ended 31 March 2009, and
includes a best estimate of the performance
related annual bonus relating to customer
service performance for 2008-09. The annual
performance related bonus is ordinarily paid in
the Autumn, following publication by Ofwat of
its Levels of Service Report, which sets out the
comparative parformance of the 10 water and
sewerage companies of England and Wates
and the OPA data for the financial year. The
extent to which this element of the bonus has
been over or under estimated will be disclosed
in the Remuneration Report for next year.

The Committee believes the presentation of
emaluments adopted in the table on page
42 aflows a2 direct comparison of Directors’
remuneration year on year, The information
required to comply with the Companies Act
is provided in full and is disctosed in the table
and in the supplementary notes.

The pensiocn benefits earned by the Directors during the year are shown In the table below.

Transfer value of

Real increase in Transfes vafue real increase in

Arcryed Pension  zocrued pension equivalent atcryed pension,

(perannum)at  in the year (net Transfer valve ofincease in ransfer value Contributions  net of member

31 Marth 208 ofinflation)  at31March 0 accrsedpension at31March09  paid by Director contributions

NCAnnett* £162,01 {8,726 £961,346 £131,914 £1,293,760 £15,600 £95,09
CA Janes* 164,102 £1.556 £455,105 £182,156 1637,361 £12,300 (61824
PO Perry*™ o £10,383 £551,68 4257 {794,155 £11,700 10212

*Accrued pensions include previous service in Hyder Water and United Utiiities Pension Schemes,
® The accryed pension and transfer vatue at 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2009 allow for Peter Perry's augmented benefits at those dates. The augmentation
is based on the reinstatement, over a five-year peried, of a full salary link to benefits tzansfered into the scheme from bis previous employer,

11
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Remuneration report 2009

Directors’ Earnings: Rolling Long Term
Incentive Scheme

In addition to the disclosed emoluments,
provision is made in the Financial Statements
for the payment under the 3 year rolling long
term incentive scheme (RLTIS) which is payable
in Autumn 2009.

The provision of £211,200 equates to 32.0PPBS,
and has been estimated on the basis that the
performance in Ofwat’s Qverall Performance
Assessment for the 3 year period 2006-07 o
2008-09 will be fourth, as follows:

Nigel Annett £83,200

Chris Jones  £65,600

Peter Perry £62,400

The final amount to be paid will be determined
when Ofwat publishes its OPA results for
2008-09 in Autumn 2009, and could be higher
of lower than the provision made.

For the 3 year period ended 31 March

2008 ranked Welsh Water joint third in OPA
performance of the 10 water and sewerage
companies. Following publication of this

report, in November 2008 payments were

made to Executive Directors totalling £347, 820
{equivalent to 52.7PPBS): Nigel Annett £137,020,
Chris Jones £108,035 and Peter Perry £102,765.
These payments were 1.1PPBS higher than the
provision made in the 2007-08 Accounts,

Service contracts

The Executive Directors have service
contracts that are subject to 1 year’s notice.
Directors’service contracts do not provide
for compensation to be payable in the event
of early termination by the Company. At the
Company's discretion, an Executive Director
may be paid base salary alone in lieu of notice.
As such, a significant element of mitigation

is built into the Executive Directors’ contracts
should the Company choose to exercise its
option to make a payment in lieu of notice,

42

The following emoluments were earned by the Directors in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2009.

100809 lordBums NCAnnett CAJones  PPemy RlAyling JMBryam GIDavies DJHine AJHobson M Strachan Total
Salary £190,000 £260,000 £205,000 £195,000 - - - - - - E660,000
Bonus 2008-09

Peovision annual

berus - 131560 103,730 £93,670 - - - - - - £333960
Bénefits in kind® - 1554 532 - - - - - - - £1,086
Fees - - - - 52,161 £52,500 52500 £52,500 £52,50 {52500 £504,663

Tatal emoluments

relatingto 200809  £190,000 £382114 £309.262 £293,670 £52,163 £52500 52500 £52,500 £52,500  £52,500 £1,499,710

The following emoluments were earned by the Directors in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2008.

200708 Lord Burns NCAnnett CAjJones  PPerry JMBryant GTDavies DIHine AJHobson JMStrachen AJCamwath Total
Salary - £240,000 £135400 £135,400 - - - - - - 610,800
Bonus 2007-08

Annual bonus

provision 4 - 123840 £95666 495,666 - - - - - - £315172
2007-08 bonus

adjustment 7920 6118 £6,118 - - - - - - 20,136
Total bors & 113760 EW0LTH E100,784 - - - - - - 335,08
Benefits .

inkind ® - £48 485 - - - - - - {72
Fees £180,000 - 50,000  £50,000 150,000  £50,060 41,667 118297  £439,%4

Totat emoluments

relaling to 200708 £180,000 £372246 £267670 £287,184  £50,000  £50,000 £50,000  £50.000 £21,667 £18297 11,387,064

{1) Changes of Director in 2007-G8 ard 2008-09: IM Strachan wos
dppointed o Director on 1 June 2007; A Carnwath resigned os a
Director on 13 August 2007; RI Ayling was appointed a Director
on 2 Aprif 2008,

{2} The financial statements for the year énded 31 March 2009 include
o provision of £333,960 (50.6PPBS of bose salury} for annual cosh
bonus potentially payable to Executive Directors for performance in
the financial year 2008-09. This provision has been estimoted on the
bosis that performance in Ofwot’s Overas Pesformonte Assessment
for 2008-09 wili be 4th. The final mount to be paid to each Director
will be determined when Ofwat publishes OPA results for 2008-09 in
the autumn of 2009, and could be higher or lower.

(3) Benefits in kind relate to receipt of private medical insuronce, ilf
health caver and life insurdnce.

(4) An annual performance bonus of £315,172 was provided for in the
Report and Accounts for 2007-08 and wos estimated on the bosis
that OPA performance on 2007-08 would be 4th.

(5} The ectual annual performance bonus in respect of 2007-08 totalled
£335,328 and was paid in November 2008, follawing publitation
of Ofwat’s OPA report for 2007-08, which confirmed Welch Water’s
position as joint 3rd.

The highest paid Director in 2008-09 was NC Annett wha received

emoluments of £392, 114 (2008: NC Annett £372.246).

Recommendation
The Committee believes that the Remuneration
Policy continues to provide the right balance

External appointments

The Board recegnises the benefit of broadened
experience that might be achieved through
the involvement of Executive Directors in of fixed and variable pay to retain and reward
external activities. Any appointment is subject Executive Directors for the attainment of
to annual approval by the Committee and, the challenging goals the Board has set for
the Company. Accordingly, the Committee
recommends the Members of Glas Cymruto

approve this 2009 Remuneration Report.

subject to the Committee’s agreement, a
Director may retain any fees. Chris Jonesis

a Non-Executive Director of the Principality
Building Society, in respect of which he retains
a fee of £30,600 per annum,

John Bryant
Chairman: Remuneration Committee
5 June 2009



Directors'responsibility

The Directors are responsible for preparing
the Annual Report and the Group and parent
Company financial statements in accordance
with applicable taw and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to

prepare Group and parent Company financial
statements for each financial year. They are
required to prepare the Group financial
statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS’) as
adopted by the EU and have elected to prepare
the parent Company financial statements on
the same basis.

The Group and parent Company financial
statements are required by law and IFRS

as adopted by the EU to present fairly the
financial position of the Group and the parent
Company and of the performance for that
period; the Companies Act 1985 provides
in relation ta such inancial statements that
references in the relevant part of that Act to
financial statements giving a true and fair
view are references to their achieving a fair
presentation.

in preparing each of the Group and parent
Company financial statements, the Directors
are required to:

» select suitable accounting policies and then
apply them consistently;

make judgments and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

state whather they have been prepared in
accordance with {FRS as adopted by the EU;
and

b

=
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>
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prepare the financial statements on

the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the Group
and the parent Company will continue in
business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping
proper accounting records that disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the parent Company
and enable them to ensure that its financial
statements comply with the Companies Act
1985. They have general responsibility for
taking such steps as are reascnably open to
them to safeguard the assets of the Group
and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the
Directors are also responsible for preparing

a Directors’Report, a Directors’ Remuneration
Report and the Corporate Governance
Statement that comply with that law and
those regulations.

The Company is responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate
and financial information included on our
Company'’s website. Legislation in the UK
governing the preparation and dissemination
of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

By order of the Board

?GC-W;

Richard Curtis LLB, ACIS
Company Secretary
$ June 2009
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Independent Auditors'report to the
members of Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig

We have audited the group and parent
company financial statements {the ‘financial
statements’) of Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig for the
year ended 31 March 2009 which comprise
the Consolidated Income Statement, the
Consolidated Statement of Recognise Income
and Expense, the Consolidated Staternent

of Changes in Reserves, the Consolidated

and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the
related notes. These financial statements have
been prepared under the accounting policies
set out therein. We have also audited, at the
request of the directors, the information in
the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is
described as having been audited,

Respective responsibilities of

directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the
Annual Report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union
are set out in the Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities. The directors are also
responsible for preparing the Directors'
Remuneration Report (because the Company
applies the requirements of Schedule 7A to
the Companies Act 1985 as if it were a listed
company).

Our responsibility is to audit the financial
statements in accordance with relevant legal
and regulatory requirements and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and lreland). We
also, at the request of the directors, audit

the part of the Directors’' Remuneration
Report to be audited (because the company
applies the requirements of Schedule 7A 10
the Companies Act 1985 as if it were a listed
company). This report, including the opinion,
has been prepared for and only for the
company’s members as 3 body in accordance
with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985
and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving
this opinion, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person
to whom this report is shown or into whose
hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether
the financial statements give a true and fair
view and whether the financial statements and
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Repart
to be audited have been properly prepared

tn accordance with the Companias Act 19B5.
We report to you whether in our opinion the
information given in the Directors’' Report is
consistent with the financial statements, The
information given in the Directors’ Report
inctudes that specific information presented
in the Business and Financial Review that

is cross-referred from the Business Review
section of the Directors’ Repart. We also

report to you If, in our opinion, the company
has not kept proper accounting records, if

we have not received all the information

and explanations we require for our audit,
orif information specified by law regarding
directors' remuneration and other transactions
is not disctosed.

We read other information contained in

the Annual Report and consider whether

it is consistent with the audited financial
statements. The other information comprises
only the Directors’ Report, the unaudited

part of the Directors’Remuneration Report,
the Chairman's Staternent, the Business and
Financial Review, the Corporate Governance
Statement and all of the gther information set
out on the contents page. We consider the
implications for our report if we become aware
of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements.
Qur responsibilities do not extend to any other
information.

We also, at the request of the directars
(because the company applies the Financial
Services Authority listing rules as if it were a
listed company), review whether the Corporate
Governance Staternent reflects the company's
compliance with the nine provisions of the
2006 FRC Combined Code specified for our
review by the Listing Rules of the Financial
Services Authority, and we report if it does not.
We are not required to consider whether the
board’s statements on internal control cover
alt risks and controls, or te form an opinion on
the effectiveness of the company's carporate
governance procedures or its risk and control
procedures.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evldence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the financia statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report

to be zudited. It also includes an assessment
of the significant estimates and judgments
made by the directors in the preparation

of the financial statements, and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to

the group’s and company's circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit 50 as to
obtain all the information and explanations
which we considered necessary in order to
provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are

free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.
In forming our opinion we also evaluated

the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the financial statements and the
part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to
be audited.

Opinion

In our opinion:

» the group financial statements give a true and
fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union, of the state of the
group’s affairs as at 31 March 2009 and of its
loss and cash flows for the year then ended.

» the parent company financial statements give

a true and fair view, in accordance with [FRSs
as adopted by the European Union as applied
in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 1985, of the state of the parent

Chartered Accountants and Registered
Auditors, Cardiff | 5 June 2009

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number; 3975719




Primary statements

Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended 31 March 2009

As restated

2009 2008

Note £fm £m £m £m
Revenue 872 8229
Operatini Eosts:
- Operational expenditure 4 {266.9) {234.2)
- Infrastructure renewals expenditure 4 {101.1) {97.5)
- Depreciation and amortisation . {133.5) {122.3)
- {Loss)/profit on disposal of fixed assets a {0.8) 08
ap;'atlngBroﬁtm Ty e Tasas T T qes7
Fan;;-lclng T e s s e P
- Interest payable and similar charges 3a (174.3) (171.4)
- Interest recelvable 3 8.6 12.2
- Fair value losses on derivative financial instruments  3b {BSﬂ N L (42.9)__ o
S T T ]}52.2) i (207.1)
Loss before taxation 4 ey __(_?;_7.ﬂ_
Taxation {chargel/credit s (58 ) 39.3
[Loss)/profit for the year {102.9) 19

The comparative has been restated to reflect the Impact of the accounting pelicy change in respect of defined benefit
pension costs {see note 1).

As restated
2009 2008
fm £Em
{Loss)/profit before taxation and fair value adjustments
Loss before taxation per income statement (97.3) (37.4)
Effect of fair value losses on
derivative financiat statements 86,5 479
{Loss)/profit for the year before taxation
and fair value adjustments {10.8) 10.5

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number: 3975719
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Primary statements

Consolidated Statement of Recognised iIncome and Expense for the year ended 31 March 2009

As restated

2009 2008

Note £m £m

{Loss)/profit for the year {102.9) 1.9
Actuarial {loss)/gain recognised in the pension scheme 19 {10.4} 33
Movement on deferred tax asset relating to pension scherne 5a 2.9 {1.0)
Total recognised {losses)/qains for the year {(110.4) 4.2

The comparative has been restated to reflect the impact of the accounting policy change in respect of defined benefit

pension costs {see note 1),

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Reserves for the year ended 31 March 2009

2009 2008
£m £m
Reserves at 1 April (41.7) {45.9)
Total recognised {losses)/gains for the year {110.4) 4,2
Reserves at 31 March (152.1) (41.7)
There were no changes in reserves of the parent company durlng the year (2008: none).
Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig

Company Number: 3975719




Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2009

2009 2008
Note £m £fm
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 6 2,980.0 2,8934
Intangible assets 7 46.2 25
Investments 8a - -
Financial assets:
- derivative financial instruments 13 - 25
Retirement benefit obligations 19 - 20
3,026.2 2,923.0
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 9 102.2 1183
Financial assets:
- derivative financial instruments 13 26.0 6.9
Cash and cash equivalents 10 T139.3 1241
267.5 2493
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 1 (129.5} (123.9)
Financial liabilities:
- borrowings 12 {20.0} (25.1)
- derivative financial instruments 13 (2.1} (3.3)
{151.6) {152.3)
Net current assets 115.9 97.0
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 1 (3.0) (2.3}
Financial liabilities:
- borrowings 12 (2,739.7) (2,623.4)
- derivative financial instruments 130 (181.7) (77.4)
Retirement benefit obligations 19 (7.8) -
Provisions 15 {9.2) (8.5)
(2,941.4) (2,711.6)
Net assets before deferred tax 200.7 3084
Deferred tax - net 5b (352.8) {350.1)
Net liabilities (152.1) 41.7)
Deficit {152.1) 41.7)

The financial statements on pages 45 to 76 were approved by the Board of directors on 5 June 2009 and were signed on its behalf by:

M2 pIpAE ) P

N C Annett
Managing Director

CA Jones
Finance Director
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Primary statements

Parent Company Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2009

2009 2008
Note £m fm
Assets
' Non-current assets
| investment in subsidiaries 30 - -
i Trade and other receivables 9b 3.4 3.4
| 3.4 34
\ Current assets
i Cash and cash equivalents S i . 10 04 01
i o - . T 0.1 __EI_
Liabilities
\ Current liabilities
; Trade and other payables n (3.5) (3.5)
{3.5) {3.5)
Net assets - -
Reserves

Retained earnings -
Total reserves -

The financial statements on pages 45 to 76 were approved by the Board of directors on 5 June 2009 and were signed on its behalf by:

N C Annett CAlJones
Managing Director Finance Director



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March 2009

2009 2008
Note £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 152 309.1 268.8
Interest received 9.8 1.0
Interest paid ) ] 168 (129.4) (212.3)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 189.5 675
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (257.0) {190.9)
Grants and contributions received 13.6 172.7
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment (0.8) 08
Net cash used in investing activities {244.2) {172.4)
Net cash cutflow before financing activities (54.7) (104.9)
Cash flows from financing activities
Long term loans and finance leases received 85.0 85.0
Revolving credit facility and term loan repayments {4.4) (4.4)
Capital element of inance lease payments (10.4) {9.3)
Other loan repayments 0.3) {0.3)
Net cash generated from financing activities 69.9 7.0
Increase/(decrease) in net cash 17 15.2 {33.9)
Net cash at 1 April 1241 158.0
Net cash at 31 March 10 139.3 1241

The parent company had no cash flows during the year {2008: none}.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number: 3975719
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Notes to the financial statements

1| Accounting policies, financing risk
management and accounting estimates
Basis of Preparation

The financial statements are prepared in
accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by
the European Unian and those parts of the
Companies Act 1985 applicable to reporting
under IFRS. The financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost
convention as modified by the revaluation
of certain financial instruments to fair value
in accordance with IFRS and as permitted by
the Fair Value Directive as implemented in the
amended Companies Act 1985,

In the current year, Glas Cymru has applied the
following Interpretations which are or have
become effective:

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

IFRIC 14 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements
and their Interaction.

The application of these Interpretations has

no material effect on the preparation or
presentation on the results or Ainancial position
for the current or prior accounting periods, and
accordingly no prior peried adjustment has
been required.

At the date of approval of these financial
statements, the following Standards and
Interpretations, which have not been applied
in these financial statements, were in issue but
not yet effective:

1AS1 Presentation of Financial Staternents
{revisions)

IAS16  Property, Plant and Equipment
(revision)

1AS19  Employee Benefits {revision)

IAS20  Government Grants and Disclosure
of Government Assistance (revision)

1AS23  Borrowing Costs (revisions)

50

IAS 27  Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements (revisions)

IAS 28  Investments in Associates (revisions)

1A529 Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies
{revision)

1AS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures (revisions)

IAS 32  Financia! Instruments: Presentation
{revision)

1AS 36  Impairment of Assets {revision)

1AS 38  Intangible Assets (revision}

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards
{revision)

IFR$ 2 Share-based Payment {revision)

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revision)

IFRS 5  Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations
{revision}

IFRS8  Operating Segments

IFRIC 13 Custormer Loyalty Programmes

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of
Real Estate

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in
a Foreign Operation

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash
Assets to Owners

The application of the revisions to I1AS 23

- Borrowing Costs will be required in Glas
Cymru's financial statements for the year
ending 31 March 2010. The revisions remove
the option of immediately recognising as an
expense borrowing costs that relate to assets
that take a substantial period of time to get
ready for use or sale. An entity is, therefore,
required to capitalise borrowing costs as part
of the cost of such assets. The revised standard
will require a change to Glas Cymru's existing
policy - it is likely that some borrowing costs
which are currently expenses as Incurred will
need to be capitalised and then amortised
over the useful economic lives of the related
assets.

The presentational impact of the other
standards and interpretations is being
assessed, but the directors anticipate

that the adoption of these Standards and
Interpretations in future pertods will have no
material impact on the financial statements of
the group.

Change of accounting policy

The group has changed its accounting
policyin respect of defined benefit pension
scheme costs. The group’s defined benefit
scheme service cost is included in operating
costs and the expected return on scheme
assets and interest on scheme liabilities are
included in financing costs, while actuarial
gains and losses are recognised In full in the
consolidated Statement of Recognised Income
and Expense (SORIE). Previously, all actuarlal
movements had been reflected in full in the
Income Statement as permitted under I1AS 19,
The comparative year's Income Statement and
SORIE have therefore been restated to reflect
this presentational change; there is no impact
on the balance sheet.

The impact of this restatement is to reduce
the reported proft after tax for the year
ended 31 March 2008 by £2.3m, and to reduce
the reported loss after tax for the year ended
31 March 2009 by £7.5m.

Basis of consolidation

The consalidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the company and
2all of its subsidiaries. The results of companies
and businesses acquired during the year

are dealt with in the consolidated financial
statements from the date of acquisition. Intra-
group transactions and profits are eliminated
on consolidation.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number: 3975719




Accounting policies for the

year ended 31 March 2009

The principal accounting policies adopted in
the preparation of these financial statements
are set out below, These policies have been
applied consistently to all the years presented.

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the income receivable in
the ordinary course of business for services
provided, excluding value added tax. Where
services have been provided, but for which
ne invoice has been raised at the year-end, an
estimate of the value is included in revenue,
See the critical accounting estimates section
for further details.

Revenue recognised reflects the actual charges
levied on customers in the year. The difference
between the actual revenue and the level of
revenue that could have resulted had the full
Ofwat allowed level of charges been levied is
referred to as a ‘customer dividend.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are Included
at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Cost reflects purchase price together with
any expenditure directly attributable to
bringing the asset into use, including directly
attributable internal costs but excluding
interest.

Property, plant and equipment comprise:

(i} infrastructure assets (being mains and
sewers, impounding and pumped raw
water storage reservoirs, dams, sludge
pipelings and sea outfalls), and

{ii} other assets {including properties,
overground operational structures and
equipment, and fixtures and fittings),

The carrying value of assets Is reviewed for
impairment if circumstances dictate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable, Asset
lives and residual values are reviewed annually.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number; 3975719

Infrastructure assets

Infrastructure assets comprise principally
impounding reservoirs and a network of
underground water and wastewater systemns.
For accounting purposes, the water system

is segmented into components representing
categories of asset classes with similar
characteristics and asset lives, The wastewater
system Is segmented into components
representing geographical operating areas,
reflecting the way the group operates its
wastewater activities.

Expenditure on infrastructure assets relating

to increases In capaclty, enhancements or
material replacements of network components
is treated as additions, which are included

at cost. Expenditure incurred in repairing

and maintaining the operating capability

of individual infrastructure components,
‘infrastructure renewals expenditure is
expensed in the year in which the expenditure
is incurred.

The depreciation charge for infrastructure
assets is determined for each component

of the network and is based on each
componaent’s cost, estimated residual value
and the expected remaining average useful
life, The useful average economic lives of the
infrastructure components range principally
from 60 to 150 years.

Other assets

Other assets are depreciated on a straight line
basis over thelr estimated useful economic
lives, which are as follows:

Freehold buildings 60 years

Leasehold propertles over the
lease period

Operational structures 40 - B0 years

Fixed plant 8 - 40 years

Vehicles, mobile plant,

equipment and computer

hardware and software 3-16years

Assets in the course of construction are not
depreciated until commissioned.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets, which comprise principally
computer software and system developments,
are included at cost less accumulated
depreciation. Cost reflects purchase price
together with any expenditure directly
attributable to bringing the asset into use,
in¢luding directly attributable internal costs
but excluding interest.

The carrying values of intangible assets are
reviewed for Impairment if circumstances
dictate the carrying value may not be
recovered,

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight
line basis over their estimated usefut economic
lives, which range between 3 and 15 years.
These asset lives are reviewed annually.

Leased assets

Where assets are financed by leasing
arrangements, which transfer substantially

all the risks and rewards of ownership of an
asset to the lessee {finance leases), the assets
are capitalised and included in‘property,
plant and equipment”with the corresponding
liability to the lessor inctuded within ‘financia)
liabilitles — borrewings. Leasing payments are
treated as consisting of a capital element and
a finance charge, the capital element reducing
the obligation to the lessor with the finance
charge belng recognised over the period of
the lease based on its implicit rate so as to give
a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability.

All other leases are regarded as operating
feases. Rental costs arising under operating
leases are charged to the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the pericd of
the lease.
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Asset revaluations

The economic value of the group’s water

and sewerage business is derived from the
regulatory capital value (RCV) set by Ofwat
during its five yearly price reviews. Accordingly,
the carrying values of the regulatory assets
will be revalued periodically to their economic
values at five-yearly intervals, starting on

31 March 2010. The previous revaluation

of regulatory assets was undertaken at

31 March 2004. This was used as a ‘deemed
cost’ for the group’s fixed assets under the
transitional rules available on first time
adoption of IFRS.

Grants and customer contributions
Grants and customer contributions in
respect of expenditure on property, plant
and equipment have been offset against
fixed assets,

Grants in respect of revenue expenditure are
credited to the Income Statement over the
same period as the related expenditure is
incurred.

Capital expenditure programme

incentive payments

The group’s agreements with its construction
partners involved in delivering capital
expenditure programmes incorporate
incentive bonuses payable after completion
of the programmes. The cost of fixed asset
additions includes an accrual for incentive
bonuses earned to date, relating to projects
substantially completed at the year-end,
where the likelihood of making the incentive
payment is considered probable. Amounts
recoverable from contract partners relating to
targets not being achleved are only recognised
on completed projects,
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Target cost contracts

The group maintains target cost contracts with
its main operating partners. The group's policy
in respect of pain/gain share receivables/
payables arising from these contracts is to
recognise gain payables aver the period to
which the charge relates, and pain receivables
as income only when final agreement with the
trelevant service partner has been reached.

Trade receivables and their impairment
Trade recelvables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost less provision for impairment.
They are first assessed individually for
impairment, or collectively where the
recaivables are not individually significant.
Where there is no objective evidence of
Impairment for an individual receivable,

it is included in a group of receivables with
simitar credit risk characteristics and these are
assessed collectively for impairment based
on their ageing. Movements in the provision
for impairment are recorded in the income
statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include highly
liguid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of change In
value, Such investments are normally those
with less than three months’ maturity from
the date of acquisition and typically include
cash In hand and deposits with banks or other
financial institutions, less any overdrafts.

Pension costs

i) Defined benefit scheme

A majority of the group's employees belongs
to the group's defined benefit pension scheme,
which is funded by both employer’s and
employees’ contributions. Actuarial valuations
of the scheme are carried out at intervals of
not more than three years, Contribution rates
are based on the advice of 2 professionally
qualified actuary.

The net asset or liability recognised in the
balance sheet represents the present value
of the defined benefit obligations less the fair
value of the plan’s assets.

The group's defined benefit scheme service
cost, being the increase in the present value of
the liabilities expected to arise from employee
service in the period, is included in operating
costs. The expected return on scheme assets
and interest on scheme liabilities are included
in financing costs in the income statement.
Actuarial gains and losses on experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognised in full in the
period in which they occur in the consolidated
statement of recognised income and expense.

i) Defined contribution scheme

The group also operates a defined contribution
scheme for those employees who are not
members of the defined benefit scheme,
Obligations for contributions to the scheme
are recognised as an expense in the Income
Statement in the period in which they arise.

Financial liabilities

Debt Is initially measured at fair value, which
is the amount of the net proceeds after
deduction of directly attributable issue costs,
with subsequent measurement at amortised
cost. Debtissue costs are recognised in the
income statement over the expected term
of such instruments at a constant rate on the
carrying amount.

Financial assets

Financial assets represent held to maturity
investments that are non-derivative, with fixed
or determinable payments and fixed maturities
of over three months at the date of acquisition,
which the group intends to hold until maturity.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number: 3975719




Derivative financial instruments

Oerivative instruments utilised by the group
are interest rate, inflation and currency swaps.
Derivative Instruments are used for hedging
purposes to alter the risk profile of existing
underlying exposures within the group.,

Derivatives are recognised initially and
subsequently re-measured at fair value
{based on market prica data from relevant
counterparties),

During the year to 31 March 2009, none of
the group’s derivatives qualified for hedge
accounting under IAS 39 (2008: none).
These instruments are carried at fair vafue
with changes in fair value being recognised
immediately in the income statement.

Deferred taxation

Deferred corporation tax is provided, using the
liability method, on all temporary differences
at the balance sheet date between the tax
basas of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in
respect of all temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry-forward of
unused tax assets and tax losses, to the
extent that they are regarded as recoverable,
They are regarded as recoverable where, on
the basis of available evidence, there will be
suitable taxable profits against which the
future reversal of the underlying temporary
differences can be deducted. The carrying
value of the amount of deferred tax assets

is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all, or part, of the asset to
be utilised.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number: 3975719

Deferred corporation tax assets and liabilities
are measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply to the year when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates
that have been substantially enacted at the
balance sheet date {2009 and 2008: 28%).

Provisions

Provision is made for all known and estimated
liabilities of the group where there is a present
obligation and it is probable that a transfer of
economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation.

In the case of leases, where properties are

no longer occupied by the group, provision

is made for the lizhilities that are expected

to arise in respect of rental payments and
dilapidations, prior to disposal or termination
of the lease.

Where the group receives claims that are either
not covered by insurance or where there is an
alement of the claim for which insurance cover
is nat avaitable, a provision is made for the
expected future liabilities.

Financing risk management

objectives and policies

Treasury activities are managed within a
formal set of treasury policies and objectives,
which are reviewed regularly and approved
by the Board. The policy specifically prohibits
any transactions of a speculative nature and
the use of complex financial instruments.
Certain detailed policies for managing
interest rate, currency and inflation risk and
that for managing liquidity risk are approved
by the Board and may only be changed with
the consent of Dvr Cymru Cyfyngedig's
security trustee {the 'Security Trustee').

The risk is further mitigated by limiting
exposure to any one counterparty. We use
financial instruments, which principally
include listed bonds, finance leases, bank
loan facilities and derivatives, to raise finance
and manage risk from our operations.

Credit risk

The group has a prudent policy for investing
cash and short term bank deposits ('cash
investments’). Counterparties for cash
investments must meet minimum short term
and/or lang term credit ratings as published
by Standard & Poor’s {'S&F), Moody's Investor
Service Limited ('Moody's) and Fitch Ratings
Limited {'Fitch’}, The minimum short term
rating, for cash deposits of up to one year, is
A1/P1/F1 and the minimum long term rating,
for cash deposits over one year, is AA-fAa3/AA-
each for S&P, Moody’s and Fitch respectively.
The Board reviews counterparties for cash
investments and the credit limit assigned to
each annually,

The group has continued to follow a cautious
policy for investing cash deposits as a
response 1o the situation in the banking
market. In consequence, with the exception
of the group’s ¢clearing bank (which has a
long-term rating of A+/A3/AA-), all new cash
investments must meet the minimum long
term rating and have a maximum investment
period of one month. The maximum cash
investment with a single counterparty was
£69m (2008: £25m).

Interest rate and currency risk

The group hedges at least 85% of its total
autstanding financial liabilities, including
finance leases, inte either index-linked or fixed
rate obligations. For this purpose floating

rate Interest liabilities are hedged through a
combination of derivative instruments and
cash balances. The regulatory framework
under which revenues and the regulatory asset
value are indexed also exposes the group to
inflation risk. Subject to market constraints
and Board approval, the group therefore may
seek to raise new debt through index-linked
instruments or to enter into appropriate
hedging transactions.
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The group analyses its interest rate exposure
on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios

are simulated taking into consideration
refinancing, renewal of existing positions,
alternative financing and hedging. Of total
borrowings of £2,760m as at 31 March 2009
{2008: £2,649m), only £156m related to
floating rate debt (2008: £162m}). The group
therefore considers overall interest rate
exposure at the balance sheet date to be
minimal.

As at 31 March 2009, 94% (2008: 94%) of
the group’s gross debt was at fixed or index-
linked ('RPI} rates of interest after taking
into account interest rate and RPI swaps,
The 'hedges’ established to manage interest
rate risks are economic in nature, but do not
satisfy the specific requirements of IAS 39 in
order to be treated as hedges for accounting
purposes, Accordingly, all movements in the
fair value of derivatives are reflected in the
income statement.

The group minimises exposure to currency
risk in respect of any foreign currency
denominated borrowings by using
appropriate derivative instruments to hedge
these liabilities into sterling obligaticns.
There were no foreign currency borrowings
as at 31 March 2009 {2008: £nil),

Refinancing risk

Refinancing risk is managed by maintaining

a balance between the continuity of funding
and flexibility through the use of borrowings
across a range of currencies, instruments, type
and maturities. Our policy is to ensure that the
maturity profile does not impose an excessive
strain on our ability to repay loans, Under this
policy, no more than 20% of the principal of
group borrowings of £2,760m can fall due in
any 24 month period.

Liquidity risk

We maintain cornmitted banking facilities in
order to provide flexibility in the management
of the group’s liguidity.
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Under the Common Terms Agreement which
governs the group's obligations to its bond
holders and other financial creditors, the
group Is required to have cash available to
fund operations for a duration of 18 months.
As at 31 March 2009, the group had committed
undrawn borrowing facilities of £420m

{2008: £345m) and cash and cash equivalents
{excluding debt service payments account) of
£124m {2008 £112m).

There is also a special liquidity facility of
£150m; this is required in order to meet certain
Interest and other obligations that cannot be
funded through cperating cashflow in the
event of a standstili being declared by the
Security Trustee, following an event of default
under the group'’s debt financing covenants.

Capital risk management

The group's abjective when managing capital
is to safequard its ability to continue as a going
concern, Given the regulatory environment in
which the group operates, the group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This

is calculated as net debt (as defined in the
group’s borrowing covenants) as a praoportion
of its Regulatory Capital Value (RCV) as linked
to movemnents in the Retail Price Index and
determined by Ofwat,

The Board considers that it is in the best long-
term interests of Welsh Water's customers to
continue to reduce the level of gearing, with a
view to achieving further reductions In its cost
of finance. The Board intends to operate at a
level of gearing of around 70%.

In respect of the risks detailed above, further
quantitative disclosures are provided in note 14,

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of financial statements which
conform to genarally accepted accounting
principles requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenue and expenses during the reporting
period. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge of the amount,
event or actions, actual results ultimately may
differ from those estimates,

Provision for impairment

of trade receivables

Individual Impairment losses on customer
debts are calculated based on an individual
assessment of the cash flows that are
expected. Collective impairment losses

on receivables with similar credit risk are
calculated using a statistical model. The key
assumption in the model is the probability
of a failure to recover amounts when they
fali into arrears. The probability of failing te
recover is determined by past experience,
adjusted for changes in external factors.
The accuracy of the impairment calculation
would therefore be affected by unexpected
changes to the economic situation, and to
changes in customer behaviour. To the extent
that the failure to recover debts in arrears
afters by +/-5%, the provision for impairment
would increase or decrease by £5.0 million
(2008: £4.3 million).

Pension benefits

The present value of the pension obligations
is dependent on the actuarial calculation,
which includes a number of assumptions.
These assumptions include the discount rate,
which is used to calculate the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows that will
be required to meet the pension obligations.
In determining the discount rate to use, the
Group considers market yields of high quality
corparate bonds, denominated in sterling,
that have times to maturity approximating
the terms of the pension liability, Were this
discount rate to reduce or increase by 0.1%,
the carrylng value of the pension obligatlons
would increase or reduce by £0.7 million
{2008: £0.8 million).

Measured income accrual

Revenue includes an accrual fer unbilled
charges at the year-end. The accrual is
estimated using a defined methodology
based upon the weighted average water
consumption by tariff, which is calculated
using historical billing information adjusted
for changes in external factors, such as
weather. A 5% change in actual consumption
from that estimated would have the effect
of increasing/decreasing the accrual by
£2.3 million {2008: £2.2 million).

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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2| Segmental information

The directors consider that there is only one
reporting segment, being the operation

of water and sewerage buslness in the UK.
Therefore the disclosures for the primary
segment have already been given in these
financial statements.

The secondary reporting format is by
geographical analysis by origin and
destination. As the group has only domestic
activities there is only one geographical
segment; therefore, the disclosures for the
secondary segment have also already been
given in these financial statements.

Parent company )

The parent company’s business is solely to act
as a holding company and therefore it operates
in a single segment.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number: 3975719
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3 | Financing costs

a | Net interest before fair value losses on derlvative financial instruments

GROUP
As restated
2009 2008
£m fm
interest payable on bonds (86.1) {84.6)
Indexation on index-linked bonds 41.4) {30.4)
Interest payable on finance leases (37.1) {46.1)
Otherioan interest {7.4) {8.5)
QOther Interest payable and finance costs {2.5) {1.9)
Interest credit on pensian scheme liabilities 0.2 0.1
Interest payabe ST T ey gnia
Interest receivable 8.6 12.2
Net interest payable before fair value adjustments (165.7) {159.2)

The comparative has been restated to reflect the impact of the accounting policy change in respect of defined benefit

pension costs {see note 1).

b | Fair value losses on derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are held for economic hedging purposes although they do not qualify as accounting hedges
under |AS 39. Consequently, the group’s interest rate and index-linked swaps are fair valued at each balance sheet date with the
movement (net loss or gain) disclosed in the income statement. Over the life of these swaps, if held to maturity, these fair value
adjustments will reverse and reduce to zero, (See note 13 in respect of derivative financial instruments held on the balance sheet.)

GROUP
2009 2008
£m £m
Fair value losses on interest rate swaps (28.3) (4.0}
Fair value Iosses_op index-llrlked sWaps (58.2) {439}
Total fair value losses on derivative financial instruments {86.5) {47.9)
Deferred tax effect at 28% (2008: 28%) of fair value losses 24.2 134
Net of tax impact of fair value losses {62.3) (34.5)
During the year to 31 March 2008, swaps with a nominal value of £433m were ¢losed out with a payment of £32.5m.
Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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4| Loss before taxation

The following items have been included in arriving at the loss before taxation:

GROUP
As restated
2009 2008
£m £m
Operating charges from outsourced activities
- Operating services agreements 1384 1161
- Customer services agreement 19.5 19.0
- Laboratories and analytical services 6.7 63
- Other contracts 14.2 139
s T o o T 178.8_ o “-15-5.3_
Emptoyee costs (note 18}
-Wages and salaries 10.7 9.2
- Sacial security 1.0 1.0
- Pension costs (excluding actuarial {loss)/gain) 1.0 1.7
- T e ST T T T -—_—-—1-.2‘.;.“ i 119
Research and development expenditure 0.5 0.5
Trade receivables impairment 18.8 134
Rates 25.5 241
Environment Agency charges 14.9 143
Fees paid to auditors {see below) 0.2 0.2
Staff costs capitalised (5.7) {5.2)
Other aperating charges 21.2 19.7
Total operational expenditure 266.9 234.2
Infrastructure renewals expenditure 161.1 975
Depreciation and amortisation
- Owned assets 89.1 81.2
- Under finance leases 40.7 40.2
- Amortisation of intangible assets 3.7 09
T e ey I T T Y PP )
Loss/(profit} on disposal of fixed assets 0.8 {0.8)
502.3 453.2

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number: 3975719
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Services provided by the group's auditor
During the year, the group obtained the following services from the group's auditor as detalled below:

GROUP

2009 2008

£°000 £'000
Non-discretionary audit fees
Statutory audit of parent company and consolidated financial statements n 1
Statutory audit of subsidlary companies 75 72
Total statutory audit fees 86 83
Review of interim Anancial statements 21 20
Regulatory audit services pursuant to iegislation 33 29
Review of draft business plan {required by Ofwat) 81 B
Total audit fees 2 132
Other services
Tax advisory services 10 27
Other 2 4
Total other services 12 k)|
Total cost of services provided by the group’s auditor 233 163

Regulatory audit services include audit work on the Regulatory Accounts, June Return and Principal Statement.

In addition to the above services, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP acted as auditor to the DCWW Pension Scheme. The appointment
of auditors to the pension scheme and the fees paid in respect of the audit are agreed by the trustees of the scheme, who act
independently from the management of the group. The fees paid in respect of audit services to the pension scheme during

the year were £13,000 {2008: £11,000).

The Board has adopted a formal policy with respect to services received from external auditors. The external auditor will not
be used for internal audit services and all non-audit work above a threshold of £25,000 will be subject to prior competitive

tendering and approval by the Audit Committee.

5 | Taxation
a | Taxation (charge)/credit

Analysis of (charge)/credit in the year

GROUP
2009 2008
£m £m
Deferred tax
- Current year movements 30.3 9.2
- Adjustment in respect of prior years 4.0 34
- Effect of tax rate change - 257
- Effact of aboljtion of Industrial Buildings Allowances [37.0) .
Taxation {charge)/credit (2.7) 383
Anzlysed as:
{Charge)/credit to Income Statement (5.6) 39.3
Credit/(charge) to Statement of Recognised Income and Expense 2.9 (1.0}
2.7} 383
Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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The effective rate of tax for the year is higher {2008: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK
(2005: 28%, 2008: 30%). The differences are explained below:

GROUP
2009 2008

£m fm
Loss before tax {97.3} (37.4)
Loss before tax multiplied by the corporation tax rate in the UK of 28% (2008: 309%) (27.2) {11.2)
Effects of:
- Adjustments in respect of prior years {4.0) (3.9)
- Other permanent differences (0.2} 04
- Effect of tax rate change - (24.6)
- Effect of abolition of Industrial Buildings Allowances 370 -
- Movement on deferred tax asset relating to pension scheme (2.9} 10
Total taxation charge/(credit) 2.7 (38.3)

The charge of £37m provides for the phasing out of Industrial Buildings Allowances announced in the 2007 budget.

b | Deferred tax
Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a tax rate of 28% (2008: 28%)
The movement in the deferred tax provision is as shown below:

GROUP COMPANY
2009 2008 2009 2008
fm fm £m £m
At 1 April 3501 3884 - -
Charge/{credit) to Income Statement 5.6 (39.3) - -
{Credit)/charge to Statement of Recognised Income and Expense {2.9) 1.0 - -
At 31 March 352.8 350.1 - -

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of all tax losses and other temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax
assets because it is probable that these assets will be recovered,

GROUP COMPANY
2009 2008 2009 2008
£m fm £m im
Effect of: -
Tax allowances in excess of depreciation 4437 395.1 - -
Capital gains rolled over 416 46.5 - -
Deferred tax on tax losses carried forward (80.1) (65.8) - -
Deferred tax on losses on derivative financial instruments {44.7) {19.9) - -
Pensions (2.9} (0.9) - -
Other tax differences (4.8) (4.9) - -
Provision for deferred tax 352.8 350.% - -
Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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6 | Property, plant and equipment

Plant
Freehold equipment,
land and Infrastructure  Operational computer
buildings assets structures hardware Total
GROUP £m Em im £m £m
Current year
Cost
At 1 April 2008 33.0 1,457.4 2,232.5 2229 39458
Additions net of grants and contributions 1.4 55.7 150.9 674 275.4
Disposals - - - (64.1) (64.1)
‘At3iMarch 2000 344 1,513 2,383.4 226.2 4,157.1
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2008 16.3 98.8 7729 164.4 1,052.4
Charge for the year 0.5 124 86.5 10.5 129.9
Released on disposal - - - 5.2} o (5.2)
At31March2009 16.8 1312 859.4 169.7 1,177.1
Net book value
At 31 March 2009 17.6 1.281.9 1,524.0 56.5 2,980.0

The net book value of property, plant and equipment includes £160.9m in respect of assets in the course of construction

{2008: £158.1m}.

Plant
Freehold equipment,
fand and  Infrastructure  Operational computer
bulldings assets structures hardware Total
GROUP £m £m £m im £m
Prior year
Cost
At 1 April 2007 329 14127 FARE:A] 218.2 3,781.9
Additions net of grants and contributions 01 133.7 1144 4.7 2529
Disposals - {89.0) - A_ - {(85.0)
‘At31March2008 330 14574 22325 T229 0 39458
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2007 159 7.2 691.1 1568 935.0
Charge for the year 04 s 81.8 7.6 1214
Released on disposal - {4.0) - - {(4.0)
At 31 March 2008 16.3 98.8 7729 164.4 1,052.4
Net book value
At 31 March 2008 16.7 1,358.6 1,459.6 585 2,893.4

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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Assets held under finance leases

Included within the above are assets held under finance leases, analysed as below:

Infrastructure  Operational

assets structures Total
GROUP £m £m £m
Current year
Cost
At 1 April 2008 611.8 598.1 1,209.9
Additions o - 60.0 60.0
At 31 March 2009 611.8 658.1 1,269.9
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2008 4319 187.5 2314
Charge for the year 7.7 33.0 40.7
At 31 March 2009 51.6 220.5 2721
Net book value
At 31 March 2009 560.2 437.6 997.8

Infrastructure Operational

assets structures Total
GROUP £m Em £m
Prior year
Cost
At 1 April 2007 526.8 598.1 1,1249
Additions 85.0 - 850
At 31 March 2008 611.8 598.1 1,209.9
Accumutated depreciation
At 1 April 2007 36.7 154.5 191.2
Charge for the year 7.2 330 40.2
At 31 March 2008 439 187.5 2314
Net book value
At 31 March 2008 567.9 410.6 978.5

The parent company owns no property, plant or equipment.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number: 3975719
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7 | intangible assets
intangible assets comprise computer software and related system developments.

Cost  Amortisation Net book value

GROUP £fm £m £m
Current year

At 1 April 2008 76.7 (51.6) 251
Additions 248 3.7) 211
At 31 March 2009 1015 (55.3) 46.2
Prior year

At 1 April 2007 5.7 150.7) 7.0
Additions 19.0 {0.9) 18.1
At 31 March 2008 76.7 (51.6) 25.1

The net book value of intangible assets includes £18.1m in respect of assets in the course of construction (2008: £19.0m).
The parent company owns no intangible fixed assets.

B | Fixed asset investments

a| Group
2009 2008
Cost and net book value £m £m
At 1 April and 31 March . .
Equity of less than 10% is held in the following unlisted company:
Principal activity Country of incorporation  Holding
Water Research Centre {1989) Plg Water research England and Wales ‘8'Ordinary Shares of £1

In addition, the group holds 5% Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock 2014 at a cost of £23,326 in Water Research Centre (1989) plc.

b | Parent Company
The company has a £1 investment in Glas Cymru (Securities) Cyfyngedig and has indirect investments in the following subsidiary

undertakings:

Principal activity Country of incorporation  Holding
Dver Cymru (Holdings) Limited Holding company England and Wales 100%
Dwer Cymru Cyfyngedig Water and sewerage England and Wales 100%
Dwr Cymru (Financing) Limited Raising finance Cayman Islands 100%
Welsh Water Utilities Finance Plc Raising finance England and Wales 100%

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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9 | Trade and other receivables

GROUP COMPANY
2009 2008 2009 2008
£m fm £m fm
a | Amounts falling due within one year
Trade receivables 109.4 101.0 - -
Less provision for impairment of receivables {70.6) {58.8) - -
- Trade receivables - net T MMW;E.AGMMMMA *455 Ty
Prepayments and accrued income 62.0 629 - -
Other recelvables 1.4 13.2 - -
T s T T 22 Thes T T
b | Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts owed by group undertakings - - 34 34
ceey«dcy,rtr e e e Ty e ?4—-——_ -‘3.—4_
Total trade and other receivables 102.2 1183 34 34

All non-current receivables are due within five years from the balance sheet date.

As at 31 March 2009, based on a review of historical collection rates it was considered that £70.6m of trade receivables were
impaired and these have therefore been provided for (2008: £58.8m). The impaired receivables mainly relate to measured and

unmeasured water supply debtors.

The ageing of receivables was as follows:

Total  Provided for Net
£m £m £m
Current year
Trade receivables
Under one month 101 {3.4) 6.7
Between one and six months 18.0 (8.2) 9.8
Between six months and one year 274 {7.2) 14.2
Between one and twa years 219 {16.3) 5.6
Between two and three years 15.9 (13.6) 23
Over three years 221 21.9) 0.2
105.4 {70.6) 38.8
Prior year
Trade recelvables
Under ane month 14.2 (3.4) 10.8
Between one and slx months 18.7 (7.1} 116
Between six months and one year 17.3 (6.2) 1.1
Between one and two years 209 {14.3) 6.6
Between two and three years 133 {11.2) 21
Over three years 16.6 (16.6} -
101.0 (58.8) 42.2
Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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Mavernents on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2009 2008

£m £m

At 1 April 58.8 53.0
Charge to Income Statement 181 130
Receivables writien off during the year as uncollectable (6.3) (7.2)
At 31 March 70.6 58.8

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in operational expenditure,

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. All trade and other receivables are
denominated in sterling.

10 | Cash and cash equivalents

GROUP COMPANY
2009 2008 2009 2008
£m fm £m fm
Cash at bank and in hand 3.0 29 0.1 0.1
Short-term deposits 136.3 121.2 - -
1393 1241 01 0.1

The effective interest rate on short-term deposits as at 31 March 2009 was 0.6% (2008: 5.5%) and these deposits have an average
maturity of 8 days (2008: 13 days). All cash and cash equivalents were held in sterling.

11 | Trade and other payables

GROUP COMPANY
2009 2008 2009 2008

£Em £m £m fm
Current
Trade payables 28.2 16,1 - -
Capital payables 534 55.6 - -
Amounts due to group undertakings - - 3.5 35
Other taxation and social security 0.4 04 - -
Accruals and deferred income 47.5 51.8 - -
o 129.5 1239 3.5 35
Non-current
Deferred income 3.0 23 - -
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12 | Financial liabllities - borrowings

GROUP COMPANY
2009 2008 2009 2008
fm im £m £m
Currant

Interest accruals 6.9 124 - -
Unamortised bond premium 0.5 0.5 - -
Unamortised bond issue costs 0.7) 0.7) - -
European Investment Bank loan 4.4 4.4 - -
Local authority loans 03 03 - -
Finance lease obligations 8.6 8.0 - -
20.0 2489 - -

Non-current
Interest accruals 35.0 297 - -
Bonds 1,664.5 1,623.0 - -
Unamortised bond premium .8 124 - .
Unamortised bond issue costs 4.2) {4.9) - .
European Investment Bank loan 146.8 126.3 - -
Local authority loans 2.3 26 - -
Finance lease obligations 8835 8345 - -
2,739.7 26236 - -

A security package was granted by Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig (DCC), as part of the group’s bond programme for the benefit of
holders of senior bonds, finance lessors and other senior financial creditors,

The obligations of DCC are guaranteed by the company, Glas Cymiru (Securities) Cyfyngedig and Dvr Cymeu (Holdings) Limited.

The main elements of the security package are:

i| afirst fixed and floating security over all of DCC's assets and undertaking, to the extent permitted by the Water Industry Act,
other applicable law and its licence, and

ii | a fixed and floating security given by the guarantors referred to above which are accrued on each of these companies assets
including, in the case of Dvr Cymru {Holdings) Limited, a first fixed charge over its shares in DCC.

The group's Class A Bonds of £902.3m (2008; £875.8m) benefit from a guarantee from MBIA UK Insurance Limited {'MBIAY.
MBIA's credit rating has been reduced to B3 and BBB+ by Moody's and Standard and Poor's respectively, and is no longer rated
by Fitch Ratings. The credit rating of the Class A bonds has therefore defaulted to the higher underlying rating of these bonds,
of A3/A/A from Moody's, Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Ratings respetctively. The underlying rating reflects the standalone credit
quality of these bonds without the benefit of the MBIA guarantee, and is the same as the credit ratings of the group’s Class B
bonds of £637.2m (2008: £622.2m).
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13 | Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are held for economic hedging purposes although they do not qualify as accounting hedges
under [AS 39, As such, movements in their fair value are taken to the Income Statement {see note 3b).

FAIR VALUES
Assets Liabilities

GROUP - 2009 £m £m
Current

Index-linked swaps 18.6 (1.4)
Interest rate swaps 7.4 {0.7)
T ) 26.0 (2.1)
Non-current

Index-linked swaps - (119.7
Interest rate swaps - (62.0)
T T e e T - (181.7)
Total 26.0 (183.8)

FAIRVALUES
Assets Liabilities

GROUP - 2008 fm £m
Current

Index-linked swaps 6.9 {1.4)
Interest rate swaps - (1.9
T T - T o 6.9 (3.3)
Non-current

Index-linked swaps 25 (52.3)
Interest rate swaps - (25.1)
Y o
Total 94 (80.7)

In accordance with IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement; the group has reviewed all contracts for
embedded derivatives that are required to be accounted for separately if they do not meet certain requirements set out in the
standard, The group has no embedded derivatives as per IAS 39,

Parent Company
The parent company has no derivative financia! instruments or embedded derivatives.

Interest rate swaps
At 31 March 2009 the interest rate swaps fix the interest rate on £192 million {2008: £192 million) of floating rate liabilities held
by the group. The maturity date of the swap is 31 March 2031 and the quarterly fixed interest rateis 5.67%.

In addition £568 milion (2008: £571 million) of finance lease liabilities are converted from 3 month te 12 manth floating for a
period of one year; the swaps expire on 31 March 2010.
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tndex-linked swaps

Finance lease swaps

The index-linked swaps have the effect of index-linking the interest rate on £617 million (2008: £622 million} of Ainance lease
liahilities by reference to the retail price index ('RPI'}.

The noticnal amount of the swaps as at 31 March 2009 is £563 million (2008: £571 million), representing the average balance on
the finance leases subject to floating interest rates for the year to 31 March 2010, The notional amount amortises over the life of
the swaps to match the average floating rate balances of the leases. These swaps are matched against the same liabilities as the
finance lease interest rate swaps noted above.

The principal terms are as follows:

Notional Amount: £563 million {amortising)
Average swap maturity: 24 years

Average interest rate: 1.64% (fixed) plus RPI
Bond swap

The index-linked swaps have the effect of index-linking the interest rate on £100 million of fixed rate bonds by reference to the RPI.

The principal terms are as follows:

Indexed notional Amount:  £111 million

Swap maturity: 48 years

Interest rate: 1.35% {indexed by RPI}

14 | Financial risk management
The policies of the group in respect of financial risk management are included in the accounting policies note on page 53.
The numerical financial instrument disclosures as required by IFRS 7 are set out below.

a | Interest rate risk
The effective interest rates at the balance sheet dates were as follows:

2009 2008
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 0.6% 5.5%
Liabilities
Bonds 5.6% 5.5%
European Investment Bank loans 2.1% 6.1%
Local authority loans 5.3% 5.8%
Finance lease abligations 4.8% 5.6%

Trade and other receivables and payables are not interest-bearing.
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The effective interest rates ignore the effect of the interest rate and index-linked swaps set out in note 13. They also exclude the

indexation charge applicable to the indexinked bonds.

b | Liquidity risk

Within 1yr 1- 2 years 2-5 years > 5 years Total
GROUP - 2009 £m fm £m £m fm
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1393 - - . 139.3
Trade and other receivables 102.2 - - - 102,2
T 2415 - - . 2415
Liabilities
Bonds 0.5 125.6 1.8 1,548.9 1,676.8
European Investment Bank loan 4.4 8.9 40.4 97.5 151.2
Local authority loans 0.3 0.3 1.0 1.0 2.6
finance lease obligations 8.6 9.9 511 822.5 892.1
Trade and other payables 129.5 0.3 03 14 131.5
143.3 145.0 94.6 2,471.3 2,854.2
Within 1yr 1- 2 years 2-5 years > Syears Total
GROUP - 2008 £m im fm fm £m
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 124.1 - - - 1241
Trade and receivables 1183 - - - 1183
g Sttt U vy e - - vy
Liabilities
Bonds 0.5 05 126.7 1,508.2 1,635.9
European Investment Bank loan 4.4 44 359 B6.0 130.7
Local autherity loans 03 03 1.0 13 29
Finance lease obligations 8.0 7.0 331 794.4 8425
Trade and other payables 1239 0.3 0.3 1.7 126.2
1371 12.5 197.0 23916 2,738.2
Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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As at 31 March 2009, the Bonds maturing between 1-2 years represent £125 million of subordinated Bonds with an expected
maturity date of 31 March 2011. If these Bonds are not redeemed on or before 31 March 2011, the interest rate will step-up from
a fixed rate of 8,174% to a fieating 3 month LIBOR interest rate plus a margin of 5.75%.

The minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows:

2009 2008
£m im
Gross finance lease liabilities
Within one year 30.9 55.8
Between two and five years 175.9 205.3
After five years o 1,165.5 1,388.2
1,372.3 1,649.3
Future interest {480.2) {806.8)
Net finance lease liabilities 892.1 8425
Net finance lease liabilities are repayable as follows
Within one year (note 12} 8.6 8.0
Between two and five years 61.1 40,1
After five years 822.4 794.4
Total over one year (note 12) 883.5 8345

c | Fair values
The Fair values of the group’s derivative financial instruments are set outin note 13, The followlng table summarises the fair
value and book value of the group’s bonds.

2009 2008
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£m £m fm fm
Bonds (note 12) 1,676.8 1,603.1 16359 1,7783

The fair values of all other financial instruments are equal to the book values.

d | Borrowing facilities
As at 31 March 2009, the group had available undrawn committed borrowing facilities of £420m expiring in more than one year,
in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met (2008: £345m).

Owir Cymiru {Financing) Limited also has a special liquidity facility of £150 million, which it Is required to maintain in order to
meaet certain group interest and other obligations that cannot be funded through operating cashflow of the group, in the event
of a standstill being declared by the Security Trustee, A standstill would arise in the event that Dvir Cymru Cyfyngedig defaults
on its debt financing covenants. Dvwr Cymru Cyfyngedig also has a £20 million overdraft facility. Both of these facilities are
renewable on an annual basis.

All of the above facilities, including the liquidity facility, are at floating rates of interest.
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e | Capital risk management

Gearing ratios
2009 2008
£m £m
Total borrowings (2,759) (2,649)
Less: cash and cash equivalents - . S L =
Net debt {2,620) (2,525}
RCV ] 3,626 3,529
Total capital 1,006 1,004
Less: unamortised bond costs {5) 6}
Total capital per bond covenants 1,001 998
Gearing ratio 72% 72%

As set out on page 54, the group monitors its capital structure based on a regulatory gearing ratio which compares its net debt
to the Ofwat-determined RCV.

15 | Provisions

GROUP
Restructuring Uninsured loss

provision provision Total

£m £m £fm

At 1 April 2008 1.2 73 8.5
Charged to income statement 0.2 25 27
Utilised in year - (2.0} (2.0
At 31 March 2009 1.4 7.8 9.2

The parent company has no provisions at 31 March 2009 {2008: nil).

Restructuring provision
This pravision relates to estimated dilapidation costs, which will be Incurred over the next two years.

Provision for uninsured losses
This provision is in respect of uninsured losses and instances where Insurance does not cover a deductible amount.
The utilisation period of these liabilities is uncertain due to the nature of claims, but is estimated to be five years.
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16 | Net cash inflow from operating activities
a | Cash generated from operations
Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated from cperations:

GROUP
As restated
2009 2008
£m fm
Operating profit 154.9 169.7
Adjustments for:
- Depreciation and amortisation 1335 1223
- Loss/{profit} on disposal of fixed assets 0.8 (0.8}
- Changes in working capital:
Decrease/{increase) in trade and other receivables 1. (24.3)
Increase/(decrease} in trade and other payables 8.1 6.1
Pension contributions in excess of operating costs - an
Decrease in provi 0.7 {0.1)
buvialivh st v " I — s (1243
Cash generated from operations 309.1 268.8

The comparative has been restated to reflect the impact of the accounting policy change in respect of defined benefit
pension costs (see note 1),

b | Interest paid

GROUP
As restated
2009 2008
£m fm
Interest payable per income statement 1743 171.4
Less non-cash items:
- Indexation on index-linked bonds (41.4) (30.4)
- Amortisation of bond issue costs (0.7 0.7)
- Interest credit on pension scheme liabilities 0.2 0.1
- Amortisation of bond issue premium 0.5 05
- Decrease in prepayments (3.7) -
- Decrease in accruals 0.2 389
Swap termination payment - 3258
{44.9) 40.9
Interest paid 1294 2123

31 March 2007 fell on a Saturday and in consequence a majority of the annual finance lease and bond interest payments
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2007 were due and actually paid on 2 April 2007, i.e. during the following year,

31 March 2008 was a Monday and all annual finance lease and bond interest payments due for the year were made by
this date. A further £32.5m was paid in April 2007 on termination of swaps no longer required, As a result, interest paid
in the comparative year was significantly higher than in the current year.
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17 | Analysis and reconciliation of net debt

a|MNet debt at the balance sheet date may be analysed as:

GROUP COMPANY
2009 2008 2009 2008
£m fm £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 139.3 1241 0.1 0.1
Debt due after one year {1,821.2) {1,759.2) - -
Debt due within one year (4.5) (4.7) - -
Finance leases (892.1) (842.5) - -
A interest {41.9) (42.1) - -
{2,759.7) {2,648.5) - .
Net debt (2,620.4) (2,524.4) 0.1 0.1
b| The movement in net debt during the period may be summarised as:
GROUP COMPANY
2009 2008 2009 2008
fm £m £m £m
Net debt at start of year (2,524.4) (2,427.8) 0.1 [+R]
Increase/(decrease) in net cash 15.2 {33.9) - -
Increase in debt 1699 e

Increase in net'd;gilér‘i‘;i.ng from cashﬁows (54.7) R (104.9) R - -
Movement in accrued interest 0.2 389 - -
Indexation of index-linked debt (41.4) {30.4) - -
Other nen-cash movements (0.7} (0.2) . -
Movement in net debt during the year (96.0) (96.6) - -
Net debt at end of period {2,620.4) {2,524.4) 0.1 0.3
18 | Employees and directors
a | Staff costs for the group during the year
2009 2008
£m £m
Wages and salaries 10.7 9.2
Social security costs 1.0 1.0
Other pension costs 1.0 1.7
12.7 1.9

Of the above, £5.7 million (2008: £5.2 million) has been charged to capital.
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2009 2008

Number Number
Average monthly number of people (including
executive directors) employed by the group
Regulated water and sewerage activities 187 173

b | Parent company
The parent company had no employees (2008: nil) in the year. Full details of the directors’ remuneration are included in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report set out on pages 38 to 42, which forms part of these Financial Statements.

19 | Penston commitments
The group operates a funded defined benefit pension scheme for current employees (based on final pensionable salary and
pensionable service), the DCWW Pension Scheme. The assets of the scheme are held in a separate trustee administered fund.

The DCWW Pension Scheme was closed 1o new members from 31 December 2005 and a new defined contribution scheme,
the Dhver Cymru Defined Contribution Scheme, was introduced from 1 January 2006.

Total pension costs in the year were as follows:

2009 2008

£000 £'000

Defined contribution scheme 122 591
Oefined benefit scheme - excluding actuarial (loss)/gain 927 1,065
1,049 1,656
Net actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in year 10,400 (3,339)
11,449 {(1,683)

Defined benefit scheme

Afull actuarlal valuation of the scheme was undertaken as at 31 March 2006 by Robert Davies of Quantum Advisory, an
independent, professionally qualified actuary, using the attained age method. This valuation was updated at 31 March 2009
and the principal assumptions made by the actuaries were:

2009 2008
Discount rate 6.2% 6.3%
Inflation assumption 2.7% 3.0%
Rate of increase in pensionable salaries 17% 4.0%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 7% 3.0%
Post retirement mortality {life expectancy):
- Current pensioners aged 65 - males 87.0 years 84.9 years
- Current pensioners aged 65 - females 89.9 years 87.9 years
- Future pensioners aged 65 (currently aged 45) - males 88.1 years 86.1 years
- Future pensioners aged 65 (currently aged 45) - females 90.9 years 89.1 years

Post retirement mortality assumptions are based on those in published actuarial tables'PA92; relevant to members’
year of birth with medium cghort adjustments.
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The major categories of plan assets, as a percentage of total assets and the expected long-term rates of return thereon,
were as follows:

2009 2008
Expected Percentage of Expected  Percentage of
return total assets return total assets
Equities 8.0% 59.0% 7.0% 59.5%
Bonds 5.0% 39.8% 6.0% 38.5%
Other 3.0% 1.2% 4.5% 2.0%
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:
2009 2008
£000 £000
Current service cost {excluding member contributions) 878 1,074
Past service cost 151 125
Effect of curtailments or settlernents 7 B 9% -
Total included within staff costs 1,128 1,199
Intarest cost 2,353 2,273
Expected return on plan assets e _(E}{H__ ___{2407)
Total included within interest payable and similar charges (207} (134)
Total recognised in the Income Statement 927 1,065

Note that the defined contributian scheme charge of £122,000 (2008: £591,000) has also been incduded within staff costs.

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense are as follows:

2009 2008

£'000 £'000
Actuarial loss on plan assets {9,301} (4,704)
Actuarial (loss)/gain on defined benefit obligation (1,099) 8,043
Total recognised in the Statement of Recognised income and Expense {10,400} 3339
The total recognised in the Balance Sheet is made up as follows:

2009 2008

£000 £000
Present value of funded obligations {40,577) (37.416)
Plus unrecognised prior service costs 526 677
Fair value of plan assets 32,283 38,786
Net (liability)/asset recognised in the balance sheet {7,768) 2,047
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

2009 2008

£'000 £'000
At 1 April 37,416 41,009
Current service cost {including member contributions) 1,241 1421
Past service cost - vested benefits - 125
Past service cost - non vested benefits - 677
Interest cost 2,353 2,273
Benefits paid (net of transfers in) (919} {46)
Settlerment (613} -
Actuarial loss/{gain) 1,099 (8,043)
At 31 March 40,577 37,416
Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

2009 2008

£'000 £000
At 1 Aprit 38,786 35520
Expected return on plan assets 2,554 2,407
Contributions (in¢luding member contributions) 1,875 5609
Benefits paid {net of transfers in) [919) {46}
Settlement (712) -
Actuarial loss on plan assets (9,307} {4,704)
At 31 March 32,283 38,786
Analysis of the movement in the amount recognised an the balance sheet:

2009 2008

£000 £000
At 1 April {2,047) 5,489
Total charge to income statement 927 1,065
Total charge/(credit) to statement of recognised income and expense 10,400 {3,339)
Contributions paid {excluding member contributions) (1,512) {5262}
At 31 March 7,768 {2,047}

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Experience adjustments arising on scheme assets
Amount {Em) {9.3) (4.7} (0.2) 35 0.9
Percentage of scheme assets (29%) (12%) {1%) 1% 4%
Experience adjustments arising on schemae liabilities
Amount {£Em) n.n 80 0.7} (2.0) {0.9)
Percentage of the present value of scheme liabilities {3%) 22% {29%) {5%) (3%)
Present value of scheme llabilities {£m) 40.1 368 410 37.2 324
Fair value of scheme assets {(Em) 323 g8 355 306 2456
Surplus/(deficit) (Em) (7.8) 20 (5.5) (6.6) (7.8)

The contributions paid in the year to 31 March 2009 include a special contribution of £nil (2008; £4.0m). The centribution
expected to be paid during the financlal year ended 31 March 2010 amounts to £1.5m.
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20} Capital and other financial commitments

The group’s business plan at 31 March 2009 shows net capital expendIiture and infrastructure renewals expenditure of £352m
during the next financial year. While only a partion of this amount has been formally contracted for, the group is effectively
committed to the total as part of its overall capital expenditure programme approved by its regulator.

21| Related party transactions
In accordance with the exemption afforded by 1AS 24 there is no disclosure in the consolidated financial statements of
transactions with entities that are part of the Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig group.

22 | Status of the company
The company is limited by guarantee and does not have any share capital. In the event of the company being wound up, the
liability of the members is limited to £1 each,

23 | Directors’ and officers’loans and transactions
No loans or credit transactions with any directors, officers or connected persons existed during the year or were outstanding at
the balance sheet date.

24| Elan Valtey Trust Fund
In 1984 Welsh Water Authority entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with Severn Trent Water Authority for the
sale of the aqueduct and associated works by which the bulk supply to Severn Trent reserveirs is conveyed.

The sum of £31.7m, representing the consideration for the conditiona! sale, was invested in a trust fund, The principal function
of the fund was to provide an income to Welsh Water Authotity, whilst preserving the capital value of the fund in real terms,
Welsh Water Authority’s interest in this fund was vested In Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig under the provisions of the Water Act 1989,

The assets of the fund are not included in these financial statements.

Interest receivable includes £2.3m {2008 £2.1m) in respect of distributions from the Elan Valley Trust Fund.
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